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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE
OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration. The greater risk
profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a
market more suited to professional and other sophisticated
investors.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded
on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility
than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance
is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities
traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors collectively and individually
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance
with GEM Listing Rules for the purpose of giving information with
regard to the company. The directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief
the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in
all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are
no other matters the omission of which would make any statement
herein or this report misleading.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

ESREREEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lau Chun Fat, George, aged 79, was appointed as an
Executive Director on 30 June 2014 and Chairman on 25 February
2019. He obtained a higher certificate in Mechanical Engineering
from Hong Kong Polytechnic and a diploma in Plastic Technology
from Suddeutsche Kunstsoff-Zentrum, West Germany. He had
worked in multinational chemical companies for 30 years in sales,
marketing and management positions.

Ms. Chan Hiu Kwan, aged 37, is the Company Secretary, was
appointed as an Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
on 25 February 2019 of the Company. She joined the Group in
May 2008. She is a Certified Public Accountant of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Lee Chung Mong, John, aged 63, is an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Group. He joined the Group in April 2008.
He obtained Ph.D. Degree in Computer Science from the University
of Minnesota, USA in 1989. In the same year, he was appointed
as an Associate, Research Staff in the Institute of Systems Science
at National University of Singapore. In 1999, he was awarded
a Teaching Excellence Appreciation Award by the Dean of the
School of Engineering of The Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology and was elevated as a Senior Member of the Institute
of Electrical and Electronics Engineers. He is now the chairman and
chief executive officer of Asia Vision Technology Ltd.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Mr. Tam Wing Kin, aged 57, is an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Group. He joined the Group in April 2008. He is a
member of the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants,
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is also a Certified
Public Accountant (Practising). Previously, he had worked in one
of the leading international accountancy firms and several listed
companies in Hong Kong. He has over 20 years of experience in
accounting field.

Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex, aged 60, is an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Group. He joined the Group in April 2008.
He is an Independent Non-executive Director of i-Control Holdings
Limited, listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He is
also the independent non-executive director of Great Wall Belt &
Road Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange from February 2015 to December 2018 and
the independent non-executive director of On Real International
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the GEM Board of the
Stock Exchange from July 2017 to September 2019. He obtained
a BSc (Hons) degree in Electrical Engineering from University of
Bath (UK) in 1986 and subsequently a MBA degree from Heriot
Watt University (UK). He has over 15 years working experience in
financial market and corporate finance activities in both Hong Kong
and China.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEmRESH

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 (the “Year”), loss attributable
to owners of the Company was approximately HK$15,256,000.
Comparing to loss attributable to owners of the Company for
year ended 30 June 2021 of approximately HK$5,170,000, the
increase in loss attributable to the owners of the Company was
mainly attributable to (i) decrease in other income of approximately
HK$1,346,000 (2021: HK$6,489,000); and (ii) impairment losses
under expected credit losses model approximately HK$6,569,000
(2021: reversal impairment loss of HK$9,022,000); partially set off
by (i) decrease in administrative expenses of HK$17,574,000 (2021:
HK$25,343,000); and (ii) increase in gross profit of approximately
HK$8,237,000 (2021: HK$6,619,000), and (iii) decrease in finance
costs approximately HK$844,000 (2021: HK$2,241,000).

Revenue and Gross (Loss)/Profit

For the Year, the Group’s total revenue and gross profit were
approximately HK$57,805,000 and HK$8,237,000 respectively, as
comparing to approximately HK71,207,000 and HK$6,619,000
respectively for the year ended 30 June 2021.

Details of the decrease in total revenue and increase in gross loss are
discussed below:

Manufacturing and trading of high-end swimwear and
garment products (“Swimwear and garment segment”)

The revenue generated from Swimwear and garment segment
for the Year was approximately HK$27,824,000 (2021:
HK$16,499,000). Gross profit for the Year was approximately
HK$5,492,000 (2021: HK$153,000). Gross profit ratio for the Year
was 19.74% (2021: 0.93%). Increase in gross profit for the Year
was mainly due to increase in revenue of swimwear and garment
segment, as compared with the corresponding period in 2021. We
saw a substantial increase in orders from our customers in Europe
as the impact of COVID-19 mostly subsided and lives gradually
returning to normal.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

E-commerce and on-line shopping related services
(“E-Commerce and on-line shopping related segment”)

The E-commerce and on-line shopping related segment mainly
represents (i) buying, refurbishing and selling second hand mobile
phones through online platforms, trading of cameras and electronic
parts and (ii) acting as agents (“Agency Services”) for suppliers
in arranging and providing value added services on facilitating
the sale of second hand mobile phones to buyers through online
shopping platforms. The revenue generated from E-Commerce and
on-line shopping related segment for the Year was approximately
HK$28,465,000 (2021: HK$50,771,000). Gross profit for the Year
was approximately HK$1,229,000 (2021: HK$2,529,000). Gross
profit ratio for the Year was 4.32% (2021: 4.98%). The decrease
in gross profit was mainly due to decrease in revenue. During the
first half of 2022, due to the rampant COVID-19 in Hong Kong, the
supply of second hand mobile phone was seriously disrupted due to
temporary closure of most of the suppliers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERESWEDH

Money lending business (“Money lending segment”)

The revenue generated from Money lending segment for the
Year was approximately HK$1,516,000 (2021: HK$3,937,000).
Gross profit for the Year was approximately HK$1,516,000 (2021:
HK$3,937,000). Gross profit ratio for the Year was 100% (2021:
100%).

Our money lending segment’s main target customers are high net
worth individual, corporations and other licensed money lenders
through referral from business networks. All loans are secured
by first legal charge over properties in Hong Kong. The credit
risk assessment of customers we conducted involves obtaining
land search and valuation report from professional surveyors on
properties; ascertaining the financial condition of the customers
including reviewing income/asset proof of individual customers and
financial reports of corporate customers; and conducting litigation
and bankruptcy searches and credit search on customers. The loan
terms are determined with reference to factors including customers’
requirements; result of credit assessment of customers, including
whether regular income of customers are sufficient to cover loan
repayment instalments; value of collaterals; prevailing market
interest rates for similar loans and our credit policy. The Company
has adopted the procedures on monitoring loan repayment and
recovery which involve (a) our money lending segment was directly
managed by an executive director of the Company who is required
to submit monthly management accounts to the Board after the
end of each month and to report to the Board on the financial
and business performance during review meetings at least semi-
annually; (b) the executive director is required to report to the Board
on the repayment status of all loans on a monthly basis and to
report any material defaulted loans immediately upon occurrence.
In respect of delinquent loans, we will first issue standard demand
letters. If no satisfactory response is received, we will instruct
solicitors to issue formal legal demand letters. Thereafter formal
legal proceedings may be issued where appropriate.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OPERATIONS

During the Year, the Group maintained an effective cost measures
in controlling the cost structure of its operations. Besides, the
Group will be extremely prudent in the expansion of its operations
in an organic manner. We also believe that it is of the Group’s best
interest to explore different sources of income while still maintains
an effective and efficient overhead structure for our supporting
departments in each of the business segments under operation.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had total assets of approximately
HK$65,347,000 (2021: HK$80,734,000). As at 30 June 2022,
the Group had no short term borrowings (2021: HK$nil). The
decrease of total borrowings was mainly due to repayment of the
shareholders loan and other loan during the Year. As at 30 June
2022, the Group had bank balances and cash of approximately
HK$6,842,000 (2021: HK$18,206,000). The Group has a current
ratio of approximately 2.13 comparing to that of 2.87 as at 30
June 2021. As at 30 June 2022, the Group's gearing ratio of 77%
(2021: 29%) was calculated as net debt divided by total equity.
Net debt is calculated as total liabilities (including current and
non-current liabilities as shown in the consolidated statement
of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents. Total equity
represents the equity as shown in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEmRESH

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FTERMERAREARE

Our Group's financial condition, results of operations and business ~ ZNEEE 7 B FAR T E B EE R EEFI =0T AE
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties S EEAAREBEFREZABIBEBZZLIER
directly or indirectly pertaining to our Group's businesses. The [N FBERIREFZE U TAANEBEFHFIZ
following are the key risks and uncertainties identified by our FEERE K FBERAEZE BT XFro&E I 5
Group. There may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to BEFEAXNEBILRAMEBX BRI IEREAE
those shown below which are not known to our Group or which ~H#&FIfEBE A EMtE K & FBEBREZE .

may not be material now but could be material in the future:

1. Reliance on a small number of key suppliers 1.

The Group's five largest suppliers, which accounted for 54%
(2021: 75%) of the Group’s total purchases, There is no
assurance that these major suppliers shall continue to provide
the goods to us at price acceptable to our Group. In the
event that our Group were unable to retain these suppliers,
or procure replacement suppliers, our business, results of
operations, profitability and liquidity might be adversely
affected. However, the Group has established strong business
relationship with these major suppliers.

2. Reliance on a small number of key customers 2.

The Group's five largest customers, which accounted for
60% (2021: 14%) of the Group’s total revenue. There is no
assurance that major customers will continue to conduct
business with us. In the event that major customers materially
reduce their purchase orders with the Group or cease to
conduct business with the Group and the Group fails to obtain
a comparable level of purchase orders from new customers,
the Group's business, result of operations and financial
condition may be adversely affected. Customer satisfaction
with our products has a profound effects on our profitability.
To provide good quality services to our customers, our Group is
in constant communication with our customers and potential
customers to uncover and create customer needs and help
customers make informed decision.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

3. Foreign exchange rate risk

The Group business transactions, assets and liabilities are
mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and
United States dollars, of which the Group's exposure to foreign
exchange risk is considered as limited. During the Year, the
Group did not carry out any hedging activity against foreign
currency risk. Any substantial exchange rate fluctuation of
foreign currencies against Renminbi may have a financial
impact on the Group. The Group will continue to monitor its
foreign exchange position and, if necessary, utilise hedging
tools, if available, to manage its foreign currency exposure.

4. Investment risk

Investment risk can be defined as the likelihood of occurrence
of losses relative to the expected return on any particular
investment. Key concern of investment framework will be
balancing risk and return across different investments, and
thus risk assessment is a core aspect of the investment decision
process. Proper authorisation system has been set up and
detailed analysis will be made before approving investments.
Regular updates on the progress of the investments of our
Group would be submitted to the Board of Directors.

As at 30 June 2022, issued and fully paid share capital of the
Company included (a) 792,745,615 (2021: 789,745,615) ordinary
shares of HK$0.10 each; (b) 1,083,333,333 convertible non-
voting preference shares (“CPS") (2021: 1,083,333,333) of
HK$0.15 each; and (c) 182,092,500 (2021: 187,348,125) series
B convertible non-voting preference shares (“Series B CPS"”) of
HK$0.16 each. Pursuant to the terms of the CPS and Series B CPS,
the conversion prices of the outstanding CPS and Series B CPS were
adjusted from HK$1.2 and HK$0.3 per share to HK$1.121 and
HK$0.2803 per share respectively as a result of the rights issue. The
said adjustment took effect on 19 August 2020, being the day next
following the Record Date.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEmRESH

HEDGING POLICY

The Group does not have any material exposure to fluctuations in
exchange or interest rates. Therefore, no hedging measures have
been taken at present.

CREDIT POLICY

The credit terms given to customers are generally based on the
financial strengths of individual customers. The Group generally
allows an average credit term of 14 to 180 days to its trade
customers.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had 95 full time employees
compared with that of 88 in the previous financial year. The staff
costs, including directors’ remuneration, were approximately
HK$15,517,000 (2021: HK$18,049,000). The Group offers a
comprehensive remuneration package and benefits to its full time
employees in compliance with the regulations in Hong Kong and
the PRC respectively, including medical scheme, provident fund
or retirement fund. In addition, the Group adopts a share option
scheme for eligible employees (including Directors) and consultants
to provide incentives to participants for their contributions and
continuing efforts to promote the interests of the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 June 2022, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (202 1: Nil).

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 30 June 2022, the Group did not have any material charge on
assets (2021: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PROSPECT

We expect that the Group’s manufacturing and trading of
swimwear and garment products segment will continue to improve
as COVID-19 continue to subside worldwide. The Group has
shut down its production base in Cambodia and redirect all its
customer orders to its production base in China. The Group will
continue to adopt costs cutting measures in response to the current
unfavourable market condition which is expected to be temporary.
The Group is well position to capture the business opportunities
from the expected market recovery. The Company is committed to
maintaining this segment as the Group's principal business despite
the uncertainties ahead. The Company will continue to deepen its
relationships with existing customers and will seek new business
opportunities with new customers including domestic customers in
China.

For the E-commerce and on-line shopping related segment, due
to the coronavirus pandemic, the supply of second hand mobile
phones were seriously disrupted. However the online demand for
such products remained strong even in the midst of the pandemic.
It is expected that with the gradual resumption of trading activities
and product supply, this segment will catch up quickly. The Group
intends to further expand its scale of operation in this segment
and capture the business opportunities from the expected market
recovery.

For the money leading business, the Group will continue to
maintain and develop the business and to allocate sufficient
resources to meet business demands.

The management of the Group continues to formulate its
business strategies to optimise the use of its operating and
financial resources. It will consider to diversify its operations where
appropriate business opportunities arise.

ZER (ZR) BRARE

ERES RSN

RE

HRER-T-ABRRSERRERBE R
\E RMIRPTERZEEREEKEKR
REERDSBFEEEER AEEEHMAH
SURRLEERM URAARFIEERED
B £E A E it o AN 52 B A A FR EN BB 45 2 38
f > UEH BRI ARG BRI AR TR - AEH
RNEBILERPAHSERTRZBK -BE
RIRE A EE M A RBNRITHER D 2B
RHEAEB T TBER - ARBRMEENNRE R
REERZAF TRSKASEPEAME
FIERHE R

B FREH R LEYHRBIEMS » B
BRBAMT —FFRIHERIERER
oM ARAEMRZE EBRNARITHHE
AR - AR B 5 a8 M E BB T
' D EEBRIDRE L - AEERE—D
BEARERIEDSZEZHRERBERRATS
BRI Z K o

MBEEBMS > SEBREEET RERZX
EHBROETEERUMERHFHER

rEEEEBEEREFXEBRIBUBE
REEERMBER AEERIKSEEHKD
REEERAEHZ T

—z-—=««x¢ (15



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESTHRS

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are pleased to
submit their report together with the audited financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for
the year ended 30 June 2022 (the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL ANALYSIS
OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries are set
out in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s operations and assets are located in Hong Kong,
and the People’s Republic of China. An analysis of the Group's
performance for the Year by business segments and consolidated
revenue and non-current assets of the Group by geographical
segments are set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income on pages 55 to 56 of this
annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend (2021:
Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW
The business review of the Group for the Year is provided in the

section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this
annual report.
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 163 and
164 of the annual report.

SHARES ISSUED DURING THE YEAR

Details of share issued during the Year are set out in note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTIVE RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during
the Year are set out in note 28(b) to the consolidated financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income and consolidated statement of
changes in equity respectively.

The Company's reserves available for distribution comprise the
share premium account, less accumulated losses.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

There are no purchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s listed
securities by the Group during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association (the “Articles”) and the laws of the Cayman
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESTHRS

BORROWINGS AND PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 30 June 2022, the Group did not have any material
borrowings and pledge of assets.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the share option scheme are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme and the warrants subscription, the
Company has not entered into any equity-linked agreement for the
Year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year were:

Executive Directors

Ms. Chan Hiu Kwan
Mr. Lau Chun Fat, George

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Dr. Lee Chung Mong, John
Mr. Tam Wing Kin
Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex

In accordance with the Articles, Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex and
Mr. Lau Chun Fat, George shall retire at the Annual General
Meeting. All the retiring Directors, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election at the Annual General Meeting.
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CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "GEM Listing Rules”), the changes in information of Directors
of the Company subsequent to the date of the 2021 Annual Report
required to be disclosed were the updated biographic details of the
Directors set out on pages 6 to 7 of the annual report.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other information required to
be disclosed pursuant to the Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing
Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting has an unexpired service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation,
other than normal statutory obligations.

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) confirmed that the Company
has received, from each of the Independent Non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers that
they are independent under Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESTHRS

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with
reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and
the results of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS THAT ARE
SIGNIFICANT IN RELATION TO THE GROUP'S BUSINESS

Save for contracts amongst group companies, no other
transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance to which
the Company's subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of
the Company and the Director’'s connected party had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
Year or at any time during the Year.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of directors and senior management are
set out on pages 6 to 7 of this annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set up
by the Compensation Committee on the basis of their merit,
gualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are decided
by the Compensation Committee, having regard to the Group’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive

to Directors and eligible employees, details of the scheme is set out
in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND/
OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
SPECIFIED UNDERTAKING OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
OTHER ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 30 June 2022, none of the directors and chief executives
of the Company has any interests or short position in the shares
("Share"), underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standards of dealings by
Directors of the Company as referred to in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESTHRS

Substantial shareholders interests and short positions in
shares and underlying shares

As at 30 June 2022, other than the interests of a Director or
chief executive of the Company as disclosed under the heading
“Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any specified undertaking of the Company or any other associated
corporation” above, the interests and short positions of persons in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO were as follows:

(i) Long positions in shares

FERRINRD KRB ZEm KRS

N_E_"FRA=Z+TH BREXTEERE
EITHABRAKATDHARE ZEAIEHEE
E QT E MR EE 2 IR ERERGD RME
BB RN KRB IMREZEEHNAR
AFETHRABZERZIN LUTTALTREAT
D B ABRAR M FHEB B ALRRQ B IRIRE
HE R EEFEI6KBFEEZ LMz ER

Fosa

() HROZHFE

Approximate
percentage of

022

Type of issued share
Name of shareholder Number of shares interests capital (%)
HEZITRE
IERES i R &H HEEE W48 7 Eb(%)
(Note 1)
(Hta£1)
Mr. Lau Chi Yuen, Joseph 149,294,199 Personal and 18.83%
(Note 2) Corporate
BRI E 149,294,199  AARRF
(Hts22)
JL Investments Capital Limited 141,674,199 Beneficial 17.87%
JL Investments Capital Limited 141,674,199 Bi
Big Good Management Limited 135,053,384 Beneficial 17.04%
("Big Good")
Big Good Management Limited 135,053,384 Em

(T'Big Good 1)
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Name of shareholder Number of shares
RERER BB AVE 4=
Mr. Ma Hoi Cheuk (“Mr. Ma") 135,053,384

(Note 3)
Bolakfd ((HEE)) 135,053,384

(H1z%3)
Wide Select Investments Limited 126,642,000

("Wide Select™)

Wide Select Investments Limited 126,642,000

(T'Wide Select 1)

Mr. Lee Yim (“Mr. Lee") 126,642,000
(Note 4)
g (T=4HE)) 126,642,000
(Htat4)
Notes:

1. The percentage of issued share capital had been arrived at on the
basis of a total of 792,745,615 Shares in issue as at 30 June 2022.

2. These shares are held as to 7,620,000 shares by Mr. Lau personally
and as to 141,674,199 shares by JL Investments Capital Limited (“JL
Investments”), which is wholly-owned by Mr. Lau. Mr. Lau is deemed
to be interested in the shares held by JL Investments.

3.  Big Good is wholly-owned by Mr. Ma who is deemed to be

interested in underlying shares held by Big Good.

4. Wide Select is wholly-owned by Mr. Lee who is deemed to be
interested in underlying shares held by Wide Select.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESTHRS

(i) Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of (i) FELERGRERETET R Z MR

equity derivatives of the Company

Name of shareholder Number of shares
RERGR BB AVE 4=
Wide Select 246,225,166
(Note 3 & 4)
Wide Select 246,225,166
(H13£35%4)
Mr. Lee 246,225,166
(Note 2)
=hE 246,225,166
(Hiz£2)

Notes:

1. see Note 1 on page 23.
2. see Note 4 on page 23.

3. Wide Select was the holder of 1,063,333,333 convertible non-
voting preference shares of HK$0.15 each which have no voting
rights and are convertible into ordinary shares. Pursuant to the terms
of the convertible non-voting preference shares, the conversion price
of the outstanding convertible non-voting preference shares has
been adjusted from HK$1.20 per share to HK$1.121 per share as
a result of the Rights Issue. The said adjustment took effect on 19
August 2020, being the day next following the Record Date.
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4. Wide Select was also the holder of 182,092,500 series B convertible
non-voting preference shares of HK$0.16 each which have no voting
rights and are convertible into ordinary shares. Pursuant to the
terms of the series B convertible non-voting preference shares, the
conversion price of the outstanding series B convertible non-voting
preference shares had been adjusted from HK$0.30 to HK$0.2803
per share as a result of the Rights Issue. The said adjustment took
effect on 19 August 2020, being the day next following the Record
Date.

(iiij) Short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of
equity derivatives of the Company

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2022, the Directors of
the Company were not aware of any other person (other than
the Directors and chief executive of the Company) who had
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S RIGHT TO
SUBSCRIBE FOR EQUITY OR DEBT SECURITIES

At no time during the Year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of equity or debt
securities of the Company or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning management or administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Year.

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions” below in this
Director’s Report, there was no contract of significant between the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and a controlling shareholder or
any of its subsidiary during the Year.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year and up to the date of this report, no connected
transactions were entered into between the Company or any of
its subsidiaries and a connected person as defined under the GEM
Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company's total issued share capital was held by the public
throughout the Year and up to the date of this report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group's revenue and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers during the Year is

as follows:

The largest customer BAER

Five largest customers in aggregate hREF &G
The largest supplier RAMER

Five largest suppliers in aggregate AREEFSST

At no time during the Year have the Directors, their respective
associates and any Shareholder (who to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the issued share capital of the
Company) had any interest in any of the five largest customers and
suppliers of the Group.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to contributing to the sustainability of
the environment and maintaining a high standard of corporate
social governance essential for creating a framework for motivating
staff, and contributes to the community in which we conduct our
business and creating a sustainable return to the Group.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

Health and safety are the most pressing concern across our business
operations. The Group strives to provide a healthy and safe working
environment to the employees.

ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION

Conservation of the environment is a key focus for the Group.
The Group complies with environmental legislation, encourages
environmental protection and promotes environmental protection
awareness to all employees of the Group.

COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

The Group is committed to participating in community events from
time to time, and to the improvement of community well-being and
social services. The Group supports and encourages staffs to actively
participate in a wide range of charitable events outside working
hours, to raise awareness and concern for the community, and to
inspire more people to take part in serving the community in order
to provide loving care and financial assistance to the needy.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group has adopted compliance and risk management
policies and procedures, and members of the senior management
are delegated with the continuing responsibility to monitor
adherence and compliance with all significant legal and regulatory
requirements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESTHRS

As far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied in material
respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the business and operation of the Company
and its subsidiaries.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES

Employees is one of the key stakeholders who affected the
sustainability of our business, their contribution and support are
values at all times. The Group believes that our people are critical
success factors to the Group’s competitiveness in the market.
As such, the Group regularly reviews compensation and benefits
policies accordingly to industry benchmark as well as the individual
performance of employees. Share options are provided to retain
loyal employees for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards
to eligible participants who contributed to the success of the
Group's operations.

The Group encourages its employees to participate in external
seminars to keep abreast of changes and updates on areas of
legal, compliance and financial accounting and reporting. Through
these types of training, we believe that the Group can increase
its efficiency and productivity while in general, the risk and
uncertainties of the Group can be reduced. The Company also
encourages continuous professional development training for the
Directors and senior management to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills which includes seminars and training, updates
on regulatory requirements and development and corporate
governance practices.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
A permitted indemnity provision that provides for indemnity against

liability incurred by the Directors and officers of the Company is
currently in force and was in force throughout the Year.
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COMPETING INTERESTS

The Directors are not aware of, as at 30 June 2022, any business or
interest of each Director, substantial shareholder and management
shareholders (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) and their
respective associates that competes or may compete with the
business of the Group and any other conflicts of interest which any
such person has or may have with the Group.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the”Dividend Policy”)
during the year, according to the Dividend Policy, when determining
whether to declare any dividend in the future and the amount of
dividend to be declared, the Board shall take into account, included
but not limited to:

(i) the Group’s liquidity position and future commitments; (ii)
the Group’s actual and expected financial performance; (iii) the
Group's business operation strategy, including expected working
capital requirements, capital expenditure requirements and future
expansion plans; (iv) the general economic conditions and other
internal or external factors that may have an impact on the business
or financial performance and position of the Company; (v) retained
earnings and distributable reserves of the Company; (vi) any
restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the
Group's lenders; and (vii) any other factors that the Board deems
appropriate.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintain high standards of corporate
governance for the Company. During the Year, the Company is in
compliance with the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code")
as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules except provisions
A.4.1 of the CG Code as detailed below:

Code Provision A.4.1

Under the code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, Non-executive
Directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-
election. The current Independent Non-executive Directors are not
appointed for specific terms, but are subject to retirement and re-
election at Annual General Meeting of the Company in line with the
Company'’s Articles of Association. As such, the Company considers
that sufficient measures have been taken to ensure the Company'’s
corporate governance practices are no less exacting than those in
the CG Code.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year have been
audited by Elite Partners CPA Limited. A resolution will be submitted
to the Annual General Meeting to re-appoint Elite Partners CPA

Limited as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lau Chun Fat, George
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 September 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) is committed to maintain
high standards of corporate governance for the Company. During
the year ended 30 June 2022 (the “Year”), the Company is in
compliance with the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix 15 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “GEM Listing Rules”).

THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and oversees the Group's businesses, strategic decisions
and performances. Daily operations and execution are delegated
to management. The Board is also responsible for performing the
corporate governance duties set out below:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(c) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and
employees;

(d) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; and

(e) to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

The Executive Directors are responsible for running the Group and
executing the strategies adopted by the Board. The Independent
Non-executive Directors provide the Group with a wide range of
expertise and experience, to ensure that the Board accounts for the
interests of all shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
and that all issues are considered in an objective manner.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXELRRS

All Directors give sufficient time and attention to the Group's
affairs. The Board believes that the balance between Executive
Directors and Non-executive Directors is reasonable and adequate
to provide checks and balances that safeguard the interests of
Shareholders and the Group. The Company considers that the
Board has the necessary skills and experience appropriate for
discharging their duties as Directors act in the best interest of the
Company and that the current Board size is adequate for its present
operations.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND MEETINGS AND
DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE

The Board comprises five members and their positions, as at the
date of this report, are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Chun Fat, George (Chairman)
Ms. Chan Hiu Kwan (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Lee Chung Mong, John
Mr. Tam Wing Kin
Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex

Details of the backgrounds and qualifications of the Directors are
set out in the section of “Directors and Senior Management's
Biographies” on pages 6 to 7 of the annual report for the Year.
All Directors have exercised due care, skill and diligence and
fulfilled fiduciary duties to all the significant issues of the financial,
operational, compliance and risk management of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”). Each Executive
Director has accumulated sufficient and valuable experience to hold
his position in order to ensure that his fiduciary duties have been
carried out in an efficient and effective manner. Save as disclosed,
none of the members of the Board have, in any respect, relation to
each other in any circumstances.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board meets at least four times each year and more frequently
as the needs of the business demand. The Board held 17 board
meetings and 1 general meeting for the Year. Details of the
attendance of the Board members are as follows:

EXELRRS

EFEEFEILEENT IREFRERS
HERRE - EFENEIEFERETITRES
TERNIRRREAG -AREFEME L
FEREEFIBUT :

Attendance
HERE
Board General
meetings meetings
Executive Directors BITESE EEXggs RERAE
Mr. Lau Chun Fat, George Bl 17/17 11
Ms. Chan Hiu Kwan PREZETS 22+ 17/17 1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors BIIEMITES
Dr. Lee Chung Mong, John FHXEL 5/17 11
Mr. Tam Wing Kin BRI E 5/17 11
Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex BBIE S e 5/17 1/1

The Company Secretary assists the Chairman in preparing the
agenda for meetings and ensures that all applicable rules and
regulations are followed. The Company Secretary also keeps
detailed minutes of each meeting, which are available to all
Directors for inspection. A draft of board minutes are circulated to
all Directors for their comment and approved as soon as practicable
after the board meetings.

All Directors have access to relevant and timely information,
and they can ask for further information or retain independent
professional advisors if necessary. They also have unrestricted
access to the advice and service of the Company Secretary, who is
responsible for providing Directors with board papers and related
materials and ensuring that board procedures are followed.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Should a potential conflict of interest involving a substantial
shareholder or Director arise, the matter is discussed in an actual
meeting, as opposed to being dealt with by written resolution.
Independent Non-executive Directors with no conflict of interest are
present at meeting dealing with conflict issues. Board committees,
including the Audit, Compensation, Finance and Nomination
Committees, all follow the applicable practices and procedures used
in board meetings for committee meetings.

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and Officers’
liabilities insurance cover in respect of legal actions against Directors
and senior management arising out of corporate activities.

The Directors are encouraged to enroll in relevant professional
development programme to ensure that they are aware of their
responsibilities under the legal and regulatory requirements
applicable to the Company. During the Year, the Company arranged
training on compliance of the GEM Listing Rules, to the Directors
and senior management for continuous professional development
of their knowledge and skills in performance of their functions. The
Company Secretary maintains records of training attended by the
Directors. The training attended by the Directors during the Year are
as follows:

Executive Directors WITES

Mr. Lau Chun Fat, George FER I E

Ms. Chan Hiu Kwan PREEFS 22+
Independent Non-executive Directors &I IEHITEE
Dr. Lee Chung Mong, John THXEL

Mr. Tam Wing Kin SBEREELE

Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex IR R E
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Independent Non-executive Directors

In order to protect the interest of the Shareholders, the Company
appointed three Independent Non-executive Directors with relevant
and sufficient experience and qualification to perform their duties.
One of the three Independent Non-executive Directors possesses
appropriate professional accounting qualifications and financial
management expertise, which complies with the requirement of
the GEM Listing Rules. During the Year, the Board at all times met
the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules of 5.06 relating to have
at least one-third in number of its Board members comprising
Independent Non-executive Directors. The three Independent Non-
executive Directors declared and confirmed with the Company
on an annual basis of their independency with the Group in
accordance with Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Board has
assessed and concluded that all the Independent Non-executive
Directors are independent in appearance and in substance in view
of the definition of the GEM Listing Rules. The Independent Non-
executive Directors do not hold any office with any connected
parties of the Company or have any financial interests other
than those Directors’ remuneration as disclosed in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statement.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

According to the Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles
of the Chairman and the CEO should be separate and performed
by different individuals to ensure a balance of power and authority
so that power is not concentrated in any one individual. Mr. Lau
Chun Fat, George, the executive Director, is the Chairman and is
responsible for the leadership of the Board while Ms. Chan Hiu
Kwan, the executive Director, is the CEO and is responsible for
managing the Group’s business and overall operations.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The Chairman of the Company has held one private meeting with
all Independent Non-executive Directors to discuss major events or
issues which incurred during the Year and the Company’s business
plan to be developed in the coming year. The Board believed that
Independent Non-executive Directors could through this private
meeting voice out their concerns on financial aspect after discussed
major events or issues and provided constructive advice on the
direction of the Company'’s future development.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND RETIREMENT

The procedures of appointment, re-election and retirement of
Directors are published in the Articles of the Company. The
procedures for Shareholders to propose any person to become a
Director of the Company are published on the Company’s website.

Independent Non-executive Directors were not appointed for
specific terms, subject to re-election. Every Director is subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

In accordance with the Articles, Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex
and Mr. Lau Chun Fat, George shall retire at the AGM. All the
retiring Directors, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at
the AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors,
all Directors of the Company have complied with the required
standard of dealings and the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors adopted by the Company throughout the
Year.

The Company has adopted the same code of conduct for securities
transactions by employees who are likely to be in possession of
inside information of the Company.

No incident of non-compliance of the code of conduct by the
relevant employees was noted by the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

The Company established Compensation Committee with specific
written terms of reference which deal clearly with its authority and
duties in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules. As at the date
of this report, the Compensation Committee comprises a majority
members of Independent Non-executive Directors.

At 30 June 2022, the Compensation Committee comprised three
Independent Non-executive Directors, Dr. Lee Chung Mong, John,
Mr. Tam Wing Kin, Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex and one Executive
Director, Ms. Chan Hiu Kwan. Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex is the
Chairman of the Committee.

The Compensation Committee proposed to the Chairman relating
to the remuneration of Executive Directors. The Compensation
Committee also recommended to the Board on the Company's
policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policy on such remuneration.

The Director’s fee payable to him is determined by making reference
to his duties and responsibilities in the Company and the prevailing
market conditions, as approved by the Board in accordance with
the Company’s remuneration policy pursuant to the authority given
by the Shareholders. No Director has taken part in setting his own
remuneration. Meetings of the Compensation Committee shall be
held at least once a year.

The Compensation Committee held 2 meetings during the Year.
Details of the attendance of the Compensation Committee
meetings are as follows:

Committee members ZEEME
Dr. Lee Chung Mong, John THXEL
Mr. Tam Wing Kin B a
Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex IR
Ms. Chan Hiu Kwan PREETS 2+

During the Year, there was two meetings held by the Compensation
Committee to review the Group's term of reference for the
Compensation Committee and review all Directors’ remuneration.

Details of the remuneration paid to Directors and members of
senior management by band for the Year are disclosed in notes
14(b) and 15(a) to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a Nomination Committee in
2005. The Nomination Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on nominations, appointment
of Directors and Board succession. The Nomination Committee
selects candidates for directorship with reference to the board
diversity policy (the “Policy”) and the candidate’s professional
knowledge, industry experience, personal ethics and integrity, and
time commitments. During the selection process, the Nomination
Committee may consider referrals or engage external recruitments
professionals when necessary.

The Board has adopted a Policy in August 2013 which sets out
the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to
enhance the quality of its performance. In designing the Board's
composition, Board diversity has been considered from a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments will be
based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on
the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee of the Company will monitor the
implementation of this Policy and will from time to time review this
Policy, as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of this Policy.

The Nomination Committee comprises at least three members, the
majority of whom shall be Independent Non-executive Directors.
The current members of the Nomination Committee are Ms. Chan
Hiu Kwan, Dr. Lee Chung Mong, John, Mr. Tam Wing Kin and Mr.
Fung Chan Man, Alex. Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex is the Chairman
of the Committee. Meetings of the Nomination Committee shall be
held at least once a year.

03 8 Luxey International (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2022

RBZEEG

KRNBRZEERFERIIRREEG RAEE
EgEENESI A - ZF URESZ#
AREEERLBR - RLETEEELREES
BB L TEBUER (IR RIBEANZEE
M =2 E&B -BARTERME UKATE
Jﬁﬁﬁ’]ﬁf’%%ff%%@ff)\ RkEBER 17
HEEGNETRIEENE EEREEFIND
Z%%§¥AE°

EFEER T —=F/\AFMZER &P
HEENEFEZ b2 HE - ARTHAL
“”%%%fﬁ‘fﬁﬁyﬁfb“ﬂ%ﬂ’&ﬂﬁ’]i‘%ﬁ?
BEHnRZ - NEIESGENERR &5
EE yruftem%ﬁﬁﬁiﬁ%ﬁé » BIEER

RICIER S Fle - XIERBEFR EBHR FE
EER RBE MBI RBEH EFEMEZ

ZEHLUAAEA BRA EUFERGEE
RANBREEEHE STz Eate

BEAERE—RIZTELEBRERE 65
BRI F8 - XERBEFR Bk

FEER R NHBERBER - REREFE
ABNREMAIAEFZRHUIBI/MMIER

TEo

AATRLERTREE W ERE Bl
A B B 5 L TSR » BRI B
> R o

REEZEERVH-MMEMEN MEMER
ZHRABBUIFPTEFT - RHZEGHRK
RERRER LT FTHREL BRELLE
RIGIR L o IR E DR EE G EE -
RAZEERASFEVRIT—RNEH-



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Nomination Committee held 1 meeting during the Year. Details
of the attendance of the Nomination Committee meeting is as
follows:

Committee members ZEGKE
Dr. Lee Chung Mong, John FHXEL
Mr. Tam Wing Kin Eslieb e
Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex IR
Ms. Chan Hiu Kwan PREETS L+

During the Year, there was one meeting held by the Nomination
Committee to review the size and composition of the Board and the
Group's term of reference for the Nomination Committee.

FINANCE COMMITTEE

The Company established a Finance Committee with written terms
of reference to review and approve banking facilities to be granted
or issued by the Company, provision of corporate guarantees by
the Company for its subsidiaries and opening of bank or securities
related accounts. The Finance Committee comprises at least three
members. The current members of the Finance Committee are Ms.
Chan Hiu Kwan, Dr. Lee Chung Mong, John, Mr. Tam Wing Kin
and Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex. Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex is the
Chairman of the Committee.

The Finance Committee held 1 meetings during the Year. Details of
the attendance of the Finance Committee meeting is as follows:

Committee members ZEENE
Dr. Lee Chung Mong, John FHXEL
Mr. Tam Wing Kin BERESTE
Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex TBIRES
Ms. Chan Hiu Kwan PREES 22+

During the Year, there were one meetings held by the Finance
Committee to review and approve the banking facilities of the
Group.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an Audit Committee. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee is to communicate with the management
of the Company from time to time, including but not limited to
review the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Company, the effectiveness of its internal control systems, the
quarterly, interim and annual results of the Company. The Audit
Committee is also responsible for considering the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditor and reviewing
the impairment to its independency with any non-audit services
performed by the external auditor.

As at the date of this report, the members of Audit Committee,
which are all Independent Non-executive Directors, are Dr. Lee
Chung Mong, John, Mr. Tam Wing Kin and Mr. Fung Chan Man,
Alex. Mr. Tam Wing Kin is the Chairman of the Committee.

The Audit Committee held 6 meetings during the Year. Details of
the attendance of the Audit Committee meetings are as follows:

Committee members ZEEMRE
Dr. Lee Chung Mong, John FHXBL
Mr. Tam Wing Kin sl
Mr. Fung Chan Man, Alex IR RS

During the Year, there were six meetings held by the Audit
Committee (i) to review the Company’s audited annual results for
the financial year ended 30 June 2021, unaudited first quarterly
results for the three months ended 30 September 2021, unaudited
interim results for the six months ended 31 December 2021 and
unaudited third quarterly results for the nine months ended 31
March 2022; (ii) to review the Group's internal control system;
and (iii) to review the Group’s term of reference for the Audit
Committee.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION ZEEMEN £

During the Year, the total fee paid/payable in respect of audit and R ZAEE > SiA A S JMNEXH MR HTZ KR IE
non-audit services provided by the Company’s external auditor is FEZRFHE 2 B FEN NS 4BZEEHZIWOT :
set out below:

HK$°000
HEFT
Types of services RF5EEE
Audit assurance services BEIZEE RS 450,000
COMPANY SECRETARY NEIME

The Company Secretary has been a full time employee who has ATME—BHERNALATEH 22RES -
knowledge of the Company's affair. The Company Secretary of the AABZABMEARESHZ L KR _T
Company is Ms. Chan Hiu Kwan, who is engaged and appointed by ——FNB=ZHEEEEEZRBEEFT - NEAE
the Board on 3 August 2011. For the Year, the Company Secretary > AR B Z ABMERDBHEEZ LIRS
of the Company confirmed that she has taken no less than 15 hours  /)\Bf Z tBREZR 2153l o

of relevant professional training.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board is responsible for presenting a clear, balanced assessment
of the Group’s performance and prospects. It is also responsible for
preparing financial statements that give a true and fair view of the
Group's financial position on a going concern basis and other price-
sensitive announcements and financial disclosures. Management
provides the Board with the relevant information it needs to
discharge these responsibilities.

The responsibilities of the auditor to the shareholders are set out in
the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 47 to 54.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is overall responsible for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Group's strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Group
established and maintained appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and internal
controls that are significant to the Group on an on-going basis.
The Audit Committee would consider the adequacy of resource,
qualifications and experience and training of staff and external
advisor of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting function.

The management of the Group is responsible for designing,
maintaining, implementing and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control system to ensure adequate control in place to
safeguard the Group's assets and stakeholder’s interest.
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The Group has established risk management procedures to address
and handle all significant risks associated with the business of the
Group. The Board would perform annual review on any significant
change of the business environment and establish procedures
to response the risks result from significant change of business
environment. The risk management and internal control systems are
designed to mitigate the potential losses of the business.

The management would identify the risks associated with the
business of the Group by considering both internal and external
factors and events which include political, economic, technology,
environmental, social and staff. Each risk has been assessed
and prioritised based on their relevant impact and occurrence
opportunity. The relevant risk management strategy would be
applied to each type of risks according to the assessment results,
type of risk management strategy has been listed as follow:

e  Risk retention and reduction: accept the impact of risk or
undertake actions by the Group to reduce the impact of the
risks;

e  Risk avoidance: change business process or objective so as to
avoid the risk;

e  Risk sharing and diversification: diversify the effect of the risk
or allocate to different location or product or market;

e  Risk transfer: transfer ownership and liability to a third party.

The internal control systems are designed and implemented to
reduce the risks associated with the business accepted by the
Group and minimise the adverse impact results from the risks.
The risk management and internal control system are design to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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During the Year, the Group has engaged an external advisory firm
to undertake the internal audit function to ensure the effectiveness
and efficiency of the risk management and internal control system
of the Group. No significant deficiency and weakness on the
internal control system has been identified by the external advisory
firm for the Year.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedure for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting

Pursuant to article 58 of the Company’s Articles, the Board may
whenever it thinks fit call extraordinary general meetings. Any one
or more members holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall
be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Procedures for put forward a proposal at a Shareholders’
meeting

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to propose
resolutions at general meetings under the Company’s Articles or
the Cayman Islands Companies Law. As regard to the procedure
for proposing a person for election as a Director, please refer to
the procedures made available under the “Corporate Information”
section (Procedures to propose director) of the Company’s website
at www.luxey.com.hk.

Procedures by which enquiries may be put to the Board
Shareholders may at any time send their enquires to the Board in

writing through the Company Secretary of the Company’s website
at www.luxey.com.hk.

Address: Unit B, 5th Floor, Hang Cheong Factory Building,
1 Wing Ming Street, Cheung Sha Wan,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Telephone:  (852) 2520 6020

Fax: (852) 2520 6086

Email: admin@luxey.com.hk

The Company Secretary of the Company shall forward the
Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board, where appropriate to answer
the Shareholders’ questions.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no significant change in the Company’s constitutional
documents for the Year.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company follows a policy of disclosing relevant information
to Shareholders in a timely manner. The Company also recognises
that people other than Shareholders, such as potential investors
and the investment community generally may have an interest in
information about the Company. Annual, quarterly and interim
reports offer comprehensive operational and financial performance
information to Shareholders and the AGM provides a forum for
Shareholders to exchange views directly with the Board. The
Company regards the AGM as an important event and all Directors,
senior management and external auditor make an effort to attend
the AGM of the Company to address Shareholders’ queries. All the
Shareholders are given a minimum of 20 clear days and minimum
of 20 clear business days’ notice of the date and venue of the AGM
of the Company. The Company supports the CG Code's principle
to encourage Shareholders’ participation. The Company has also
complied with the requirements concerning voting by poll under
the GEM Listing Rules. Details of the poll voting procedures and
the rights of Shareholders to demand a poll included in circulars
to Shareholders dispatched by the Company and explained by
the chairman of general meeting at the meeting. All resolutions
proposed at general meeting are voted separately. The results of the
poll was published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

The Company has maintained a corporate website
(www.luxey.com.hk) as a channel to promote effective corporate
communication with the investors and the general public. The
website is used to disseminate Company announcements, circulars,
Shareholder information and other relevant financial and non-
financial information in an electronic format on a timely basis.

The Shareholder communication policy is reviewed regularly to

ensure effectiveness and compliance with the current regulatory
and other requirements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

elite
partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
LUXEY INTERNATIONAL (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Luxey International (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 55 to 162, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30
June 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 30 June 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance
and consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
"HKICPA™) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BIZ MRS

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“"HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “"Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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Key audit matter
S ER

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZHE RS

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ESFEENAETFNNEEMREAEFE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

FEUWL B 5 AR Z R B T

As disclosed in note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group's trade receivables, net of
allowance for credit losses, was approximately
HK$31,475,000 as at 30 June 2022.

MMM BRRNF21MIRE SEER_-ZE
TTERA=ZTHNBWREZERR R EEERE

) A4y EME31,475,0007T ©

In determining whether there was objective evidence of
impairment loss, the Group took into consideration the
credit history of the customers and the current market
condition which may require management judgment.

REEREEFEAEBENTRERR AEEELE
ERFNERSHEUAIERZEEEBAENEN TS
R e

Our audit procedures in relation to impairment
assessment of trade receivables included:
BHERMZRBESRRZAETIGEZEHERFS
N

e  discussing the Group’s procedures on credit period
given to customers with the management;

- HNEEESNHAEEXRTEREERNER

e checking, on a sample basis, the aging profile of
the trade receivables as at 30 June 2022 to the
underlying financial records and post year-end
settlements to bank record;

s HWEBMBEBE_Z__F/A=THHNERKESZ
IRFRE 1B BB R B TS sd iR A R R B AE R SR 1T
SOEE ;

e inquiring management for the status of each of the
material balances of trade receivables past due as at
30 June 2022 and corroborating explanations from
management with supporting evidence, such as
understanding on-going business relationship with
the customers based on trade records, checking
historical and subsequent settlement records of and
other correspondence with the customers;

e MEBEEEABBE_ZT__F,A=1tHS=EE
%1 HA B B IR B 5 BR RN B K A AR RO AR e 3 A 32 F5 58
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ERNFEERHAR REERXREEREER
Bt AR EMBE ;
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Key audit matter
SR

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EFEEBEPNNERERRESER

Impairment assessment of trade receivables (Continued)

FEWE 5 AR Z BTG (&)

We identified impairment assessment of trade receivables
as a key audit matter due to the involvement of significant
judgment and management estimate in evaluating the
expected credit losses of the Group's trade receivables at
the end of the reporting period.

BRI E ZRFURETEH A A —BRAREt S
B RARN T EREMREEREWE ZRANTE
HIE BB B AH M RSB (5T o

Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements

and our auditor’s report thereon.

e assessing the appropriateness of the expected
credit loss provisioning methodology, examining the
key data inputs, on a sample basis, to assess their
accuracy and completeness, and challenging the
assumptions, including both historical and forward-
looking information, used to determine the expected
credit losses.

o FHMETEHIEEEEERATHANESM MK
FRGERBEEE AT G EEREMNTE
Mo THBEELNAEMEESTRANANRETE
FEREEFEBENRRIELERE

Hth&#
EFRANHMENEE - HthEH B TIERN

FHRANER EFBEGREHMHRE M
BUIZ BB R & o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors and the Audit Committee for
the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BIZ MRS

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BIZ MRS

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Wong Ho Kwan with Practising Certificate
number P07543.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
10/F, 8 Observatory Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui

Kowloon, Hong Kong

22 September 2022
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Revenue
Cost of sales and service rendered

Gross profit

Other income

Loss on written off of property, plant
and equipment

Impairment losses recognised under
expected credit losses model, net
of reversal

Selling expenses

Administrative expenses

Loss from operations
Finance costs

Loss before tax
Income tax expense

Loss for the year

Loss for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Loss per share
Basic and diluted (cents)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
FEEER
For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —F = — £ NF =+ HIFFE

A
HHE RIRHARTS Z B2

EF
H e

Y ERNVISE St P
K518

Notes

HraE

17

RIRTRAE S HERIVES

AR E &S 18 > $1 BR[O

HERMX
THER

HERIR
LIRS

PRIRAIES IR
FTiSMmF s

FREGE
THANTEEFERESS :

E/NSIEZ =P
IRt m

BREE
BEAR S (BAl)

10

11

12

16

2022 2021
—E__—F —EF—

HK$°000 HK$°000
BT T BT T
57,805 71,207
(49,568) (64,588)
8,237 6,619
1,346 6,489
= (396)

(6,569) 9,022
(192) (137)
(17,574) (25,343)
(14,752) (3,746)
(844) (2,241)
(15,596) (5,987)
(15,596) (5,987)
(15,256) (5,170)
(340) (817)
(15,596) (5,987)
(1.93) (0.66)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meRmkEMEEEER

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive
income/(loss):

Item that will be reclassified
subsequently to profit and loss:
Exchange differences on translation

of foreign operations

Other comprehensive income/
(loss) for the year

Total comprehensive loss
for the year

Total comprehensive loss
for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

FAEBE
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2022 2021
—EBE-CF B —F
HK$°000 HK$000
BT BT T
(15,596) (5,987)
227 (341)

227 (341)
(15,369) (6,328)
(15,029) (5,511)
(340) (817)
(15,369) (6,328)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
EEMBRRER

As at 30 June 2022 KR _=EFE__#FNA=+H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories

Trade and other receivables
Loan receivables

Bank balances and cash

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables
Lease liabilities

Employee benefit obligations
Current tax liabilities

Total current liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Lease liabilities

NET ASSETS

FRBEE
Y EN IS E 4
EREEE

DT
REEE

2

FE & 5 R H AR 2K

FEWERR
IRTTHEFRRE

MENEEMRE

mEEE

PR B 5 R EMBRR
HE&R
RE®BMNEE
RIERIRE R

BB RAEER

MENEEFE

BEERERRBER

IEREER
HE&R

BEFE

Notes

Mzt

17
18

20
21
22
23

24
25
26

25

EEER () BRAR

2022 2021
- =
HK$°000 HK$'000
BEFT BHEFT
1,331 1,457
2,138 3,475
3,469 4,932
5,482 3,141
33,254 35,755
16,300 18,700
6,842 18,206
61,878 75,802
22,875 21,079
2,637 2,550
3,114 2,357
460 460
29,086 26,446
32,792 49,356
36,261 54,288
3,221 5,879
33,040 48,409

———

—_——

z¢1 (57



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

MBI RER

As at 30 June 2022 R _ZE__#FNA=1H

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital
Reserves

Equity attributable to owners of

the Company
Non-controlling interests

TOTAL EQUITY

AR R f

R

Gl

RABER NELED

JRIER

HEmABER

The consolidated financial statements were approved and

Notes

Hfat

2
29

2022 2021

- S “ET—fF
HK$’000 HK$°000
AETFT BT T
270,910 271,450
(218,156) (203,667)
52,754 67,783
(19,714) (19,374)
33,040 48,409

REMBRRABAEFEN ST - "FNA

authorised for issue by the board of director on 22 September 2022
and are signed on its behalf by:

Chan Hiu Kwan
PR BE 5
Executive Director

HITEF
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Asat 1 July 2020 RIZZEELA-H
Total comprehensive loss for the year ERREFRLE
Iss of new shares upon rights issue HREHTIRA
Share issuing expense ROEMES

Conversion of convertble non-voting preference IR ERZRERRBAALER
share into ordinary shares

Asat 30 June 2021 and s at 1 July 2021 RIBT-FRAZHER
RZEZ-4+B-H

Total comprehensive incomefloss) for the year ~ ER2ENE/ () B8

Conversion of convertble non-voting preference TR ERZRERREAA
share into ordinary shares 2k

As at 30 June 2022 KIEZZERB=1A

Attributable to owners of the Company

EINEAINAY

Capital Non-
Share Share Translation redemption Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve losses Sub-total interests equity
T RiraE ERGE  EARERE EithH g FR2 ERAE
HKS000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
BT Vil 4w BT Vil 4w Vil 4w BT Vil 4w Vil 4w
261,844 705,642 412 150 (903,907) 64,141 (18,557) 45,584
- - (341) - (5170 (5511) (817) (6328
9,786 - - - - 9,786 - 9,786
- (633) = = = (633) - (633)
(180) 180 - - = = - -
271,450 705,189 I 150 (909,077) 67,783 (19374) 43409
- - 01 - (15,256) (15,029) (340) (15,369)
(540) 540 = - - R ; B
270,910 705,729 298 150 (924,333) 52,754 (19,714) 33,040




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HMERERER

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Bank interest income
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Loss on written off of property,
plant and equipment

Write-down of inventories

Provision for employee benefit
obligations

Reversal of provision for employee
benefit obligations

Gain on early termination of lease
Covid-19-related rent concession

Impairment losses recognised
under expected credit losses
model, net of reversal

Operating cash flows before
movements in working capital
Change in inventories
Change in trade and
other receivables
Change in loan receivables
Change in trade and other payables

Net cash (used in)/generated
from operating activities
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2022 2021
—E_C — %
HK$°000 HK$°000
BT T BT T
(15,596) (5,987)
844 2,241
(7) (1)
330 310
1,293 1,749
= (3,863)
= 396
= 48
791 1M
= (463)
- (29)
= (1,004)
6,569 (9,022)
(5,776) (15,524)
(2,265) (143)
(4,068) 10,743
2,400 61,559
1,423 (9,204)
(8,286) 47,431




CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

Bank interest received

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Purchases of property,
plant and equipment

Net cash (used in)/generated
from investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of new shares
Share issuing expense
Repayment to a shareholder/
a related company
Repayment of other loan

Repayment of lease liabilities
Interest paid

Net cash used in financing
activities

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE
REPORTING PERIOD

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT THE END OF THE REPORTING
PERIOD

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GSaBHERER

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —F = — £ NF =+ HIFFE

REFHZHERE

BUERITHRIE

HEME - -BEK
KRB ZFTSTIA

BEYE MEKRRE

REES (FRA) /Fris
ZHEFHE

MEZEFSZIRERE

BITHRZ ISR
BR1D TR
m—%BRER,
—HERAERTEMR
BEEHEMER
BEEEEE
BEFE

MEEBFAZ RSP
RERFLEEAEDZ
DB
IEEEEB L HE

BREHMZRERREEE
LS|

BERRZRERAEEE
1=

2022 2021
—ET-— BT —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
AT B F T
7 11
= 4,265
(204) (116)
(197) 4,160
= 9,786
= (633)
= (58,000)
= (1,500)
(3,407) (2,537)
= (1,196)
(3,407) (54,080)
(11,890) (2,489)
526 808
18,206 19,887
6,842 18,206
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Luxey International (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability. The
address of registered office and principal place of business are
set out in “Corporate Information” section. The Company's
shares are listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of
the Company and all values are rounded to nearest thousands
of units of HK$ (“HK$'000"), unless otherwise stated.

The Company is investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA™).
These consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure requirement by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis except for certain property, plant
and equipment that are measured at revalued amount at the
end of the reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —FE - —F XA =+1HIFFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except
for share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions
that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but
are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

e level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

e level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R MBIwRMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2021 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

EAVBREERFOFE - FAGER
F399% - BB BIREERF75%
BEREMBREENBIRREBMBRES
ZERF165REFT A

Amendment to HKFRS 16

BRMBRSEFI6RIET L g

The application of amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
performance and financial positions for current and prior years
and/or on the disclosure set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

0 6 4 Luxey International (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2022

3.

EREAMBREEIET X

RAEFERFERNEBMBREER
(EHES

RAEFE  AEBRERESHMHTRE
K EEREAUTHEBEMAER
MR _—_E_—FtB—HBsz®MA%
ZEERBRNERNEBYHFREE
AMESTA

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

REEERE — F2ER

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021
VBRI —FRA=THBZZE—NABRFEEHERM
HEEE

RAFERBEBMBREENET LR
HAEEBRAFERBEFENMBR
BRBMBR IR N FREMBRER
HRBUWESERTE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —FE - —F XA =+1HIFFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs 3. EEREAMBREENETE &

(Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

HKFRS 17
EBM B EEENFE 1T
Amendments to HKFRSs
EBVBEREEIANETTAR
Amendments to HKFRS 3
EBMBHREEAFIFEET LR
Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKAS 16
and HKAS 37

EBVBREENFIN - EEFEL
B MEB YT ERFEI7TFET A
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

EBVBEHRESENFE109E K
SRR FE28EFT A
Amendments to HKAS 1

BRGSERFIRET &

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2
EEGHERNSFIRAEBYERS
ZEREEERFE25REFT A
Amendments to HKAS 8
EREETERFESFETTI A
Amendments to HKAS 12

EESEHERE 12BN

EEMBERRERZMIIEEMBRS
HAKRERMBRGERNETE

AEBRTEREFEAUTERMERR
EM 2T EBMBZREENREBR
B EEANEFT &

Insurance Contracts and the related Amendments?

R E N RAERAEST

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018 —2020'
BEBUBREEN - \FE_Z_ZEFNFEIE
Reference to the Conceptual Framework!

RIS ESR

Narrow-scope Amendments'

NEEERT

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

REFHHMENDNGECRZBNEEHEIHE

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)?

BB EBRBIIRDREERIBE (CT_F)
Z AT A

Disclosure of Accounting Policies?
B5t R 2K ER?

Definition of Accounting Estimates?

FEHh st Z E R

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction?

REIRR 7 EENEEKE EHERIELER R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

3. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs S5

(Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

RREEMBREENET X (@

EEMBERRERZMITIEEMBRS
ZAUKRERMBRSEETE (&)

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use'
BEGENE165ET R W26 ~ LB e 5% s — 1R TE R 2R AT RY P18 AR IR
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract’
BEEGHEREI7HRET R BEEN-BITENRIEE

Accounting Guideline 5 (revised) Merger Accounting for Common Control Combinations?
B5t15515855% B&1E5T) HEESISHZzaHEstE

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

2 Effective for business combinations/common control combinations
for which the application date/combination date is on or after the
beginning of the first annual period on or after 1 January 2022.

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

The directors anticipate that the application of all new and

amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —F = — £ NF =+ HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Basic of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

e has power over the investee;

e is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

¢ has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights
of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Group's voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

e the size of the Group's holding of voting rights relative
to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

e potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basic of consolidation (Continued)

e  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

e any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that
the Group has, or does not have, the current ability to
direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions
need to be made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date
the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases
to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to owners of the Company and to non-controlling
interests (“NCI"”). Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to owners of the Company and to NCl even if this
results in NCI having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

NCl in subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s
equity therein, which represent present ownership interests
entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of
the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —F = — £ NF =+ HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case
the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under
the heading of translation reserve (attributed to NCI as
appropriate).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than plant and machinery
as described below) held for use in the production or supply
of goods or services, or for administrative purposes, are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost,
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure
incurred after the property, plant and equipment have been
put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the profit or loss in the period in which it
is incurred. In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated
that the expenditure has resulted in an increase in the future
economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of the
property, plant and equipment, the expenditure is capitalised
as an additional cost of that asset.

Plant and machinery held for use in the production or supply
of goods or services, are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at revalued amount, less any subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Any revaluation increase arising from revaluation of plant
and machinery is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in plant and machinery revaluation reserve,
except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of
the same asset previously recognise in profit or loss, in which
case the increase is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the
decrease previously charged. A decrease in carrying amount
arising on revaluation of plant and machinery is recognised in
profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any,
on the plant and machinery revaluation reserve relating to a
previous revaluation of that asset. On the subsequent sale or
retirement of a revalued asset, the attributable revaluation
surplus is transferred to accumulated losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —F = — £ NF =+ HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or
valuation of assets less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

The principal annual rates are as follows:

Leasehold improvement 20% or

over the lease terms,

whichever is shorter
Furniture, fixture and 20%-50%

office equipment

Plant and machinery 20%
Motor vehicles 20%-25%
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the

asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

072

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under
HKFRS 16 at inception or modification date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the
lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —FE - —F XA =+1HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4.

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of offices that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities other than adjustments
to lease liabilities resulting from Covid-19-related rent
concessions in which the Group applied the practical
expedient.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modlfications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the
Group applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts for
a lease modification as a separate lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

e the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase
in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular
contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability, less any lease
incentives receivable, based on the lease term of the modified
lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —FE - —F XA =+1HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has
elected to apply the practical expedient not to assess whether
the change is a lease modification if all of the following
conditions are met:

e the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change;

e any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2022; and

e there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes
in lease payments resulting from rent concessions the same
way it would account for the changes applying HKFRS 16
if the changes are not a lease modification. Forgiveness or
waiver of lease payments are accounted for as variable lease
payments. The related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the
amounts forgiven or waived with a corresponding adjustment
recognised in the profit or loss in the period in which the event
occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out basis. The
cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of all
production overhead expenditure, and where appropriate,
subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale. Cost necessary to make the sale
include incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and
non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to make
the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —FE - —F XA =+1HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Interest income from money lending business which are
derived from the Group’s ordinary course of business are
presented as revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R MBIwRMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. FEGTHHE &
Financial instruments (Continued) $RTH &)
Financial assets THEE

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —FE - —F XA =+1HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including trade
receivables, loan receivables, deposits, other receivables and
bank balances). The amount of ECL is updated at the end of
each reporting period to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result
from default events that are possible within 12 months after
the end of reporting period. Assessments are done based
on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
without significant financing component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4.

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the end of the reporting period with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in

the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —F = — £ NF =+ HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R MBIwRMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —FE - —F XA =+1HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iiiy Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
default events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

() the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R MBIwRMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

(v)

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.
The Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL
on trade receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —FE - —F XA =+1HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are considered
on a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as
forward-looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

e  Past-due status;

e Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

e  External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to

ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to
pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises
a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —F = — £ NF =+ HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Perpetual instruments, which include no contractual obligation
for the Group to deliver cash or other financial assets or the
Group has the sole discretion to defer payment of distribution
and redemption of principal amount indefinitely are classified
as equity instruments.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (trade and other payables (excluded
contract liabilities)) are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

e the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

e the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Sale of goods

Sales of swimwear and garment products

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when control
of the goods has transferred, being when the goods have
been shipped to the wholesale’s specific location (delivery).
Following delivery, the wholesaler has full discretion over the
manner of distribution and price to sell the goods, has the
primary responsibility when on selling the goods and bears
the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to the goods.
A receivable is recognised by the Group when the goods are
delivered to the wholesaler as this represents the point in time
at which the right to consideration becomes unconditional, as
only the passage of time is required before payment is due.
The credit terms generally range from 14 to 180 days. Each
customer has a maximum credit limit. For new customers,
payment in advance is normally required.

Sales of second hand mobile phones

Revenue from sales of goods through online retail platform
is therefore recognised at a point in time when the goods is
shipped/delivered to customers, being at the point that the
customer obtains the control of the goods and the Group has
present right to payment and collection of the consideration is
probable.

The Group typically receives payment in full before the sales
orders processed. \When the Group receives the payment in full
before the goods is shipped/delivered to customers, this will
give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a contract, until the
revenue recognised when the goods is shipped/delivered to the
customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —FE - —F XA =+1HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Commission fee from consignment sales

Commission fee from consignment sales represents
commission received by the Group when the Group acts as
consignee for certain suppliers on selling their clothing, shoes
and accessories to customers through its online retail platform
on consignment basis.

The Group is an agent under the consignment sales contracts
as its performance obligation is to sell the products supplied
by another party. In this regards, the Group does not control
the products provided by another party before those goods
sold and shipped/delivered to customers. Accordingly, the
Group recognises revenue in the amount of commission to
be received pursuant to the consignment sales contracts and
is therefore recognised at a point in time when the goods is
shipped/delivered to customers, being at the point that the
customer obtains the control of the goods and the Group has
present right to payment and collection of the consideration is
probable.

The Group typically receives payment in full before the
consignment sales orders processed. When the Group receives
the payment in full before the consignment goods is shipped/
delivered to customers, this will give rise to contract liabilities
and payable to consignor at the start of the contract, until the
commission fee income recognised when the consignment
goods is shipped/delivered to customers.

Provision of subcontracting services
Revenue from provision of subcontracting services is

recognised at the point in time when services performed to the
customers. The credit terms generally up to 180 days.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R MBIwRMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 EtZE —F = —£F;NH =1 HIFFE
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4. FEGHHE @
Employee benefits EE=F

() ESEZERE

(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

(i) Retirement benefit obligations

The Group contributes to a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme
(the “MPF Scheme"”) under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme Ordinance for all employees in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ relevant income and are charged to profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed in the MPF Scheme. Under the MPF Scheme,
the employer and its employees are each required to
make contribution to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF
Scheme vest immediately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —FE - —F XA =+1HIFFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Retirement benefit obligations (Continued)

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries which
operate in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
are required to participate in a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of its payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules
of the central pension scheme. The Group's employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed in the central pension scheme. The Group
has no forfeiture of pension scheme contributions (i.e.
contributions processed by the employer on behalf of the
employee who has exited the scheme prior to vesting of
such contributions).

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the date when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits, and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period

in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are presented under
“other income”.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “loss before tax” recognised
in profit or loss because of items of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused
tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —F = — £ NF =+ HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to
settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

4,

FEGHEER @

W (&)

BIERMBEERMRHBATNKEESE
AYFEERIR B Ry = RAFE D > 1R S SR B BESD
EREREENELNEEREZEATN
B R R 2R B2 ORI 1F ! 5

FIEMBEEENRBMERSRSHRR
5 WA B AR B 5 BRI ) LU
Welal 2 BR e 5k 0 B E R R

FLERBNRARREREENEES
RABBERNRESE IREHARER
MRNER L EBMIIRR DR  EIER
RS REmER  EEERIRER H e
B W s HE s A IEEB A R
Sh EUEBR T BIERIRTTEN EME
T W e X B 3R Y P PO FE BT

BLERBEEMRBRZGAERBEIER
BN RESARKENEEEEERE
RIREEPREEZRFER

PIERTAE & K B AR A OE BN EITR
REERMANESGIRER  MZF
FLERBEEKRBRT AR —IREKEE
BB PR SIRAER B AEB R LUS RS
BHEAEREE E KRB ERIEH -

BIER R SE AR TR AR 4R I FE 5T

w=Em Gzi) sman —e-—zex ()97



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (the “CGU") to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are allocated
to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the CGU or group of CGUs to which
the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant CGU or group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —FE - —F XA =+1HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to
a CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of
CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of CGUs. In
allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of the assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit
or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have
been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount under another standard,
in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
decrease under that standard.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a CGU or a group
of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount under another standard,
in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as
a revaluation increase under that standard.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the
obligations, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value
of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of
money is material).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —FE - —F XA =+1HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group's most senior executive management for
the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group's various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

Contingent assets

Contingent assets arise from unplanned or other unexpected
events that give rise to the possibility of an inflow of economic
benefits to the Group and they are not recognised in the
consolidated financial statements. The Group assesses
continually the development of contingent assets. If it has
become virtually certain that an inflow of economic benefits
will arise, the Group recognises the asset and the related
income in the consolidated financial statements in the
reporting period in which the change occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

102

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities (Continued)

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past
events but is not recognised because it is not probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the
obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to be met
by other parties is treated as a contingent liability and it is not
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow
of future economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision is
recognised in the consolidated financial statements in the
reporting period in which the change in probability occurs,
except in the extremely rare circumstances where no reliable
estimate can be made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —F = — £ NF =+ HIFFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related party

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is

related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is a member);
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R MBIwRMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related party (Continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

(iii)

(vi)

(vii)

both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); or

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is

a part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the Group's parent.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or

obligations between the Group and a related party, regardless
of whether a price is charged.

Close family members of a person are those family members

who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that

person in their dealings with the entity.
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5.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —F = — £ NF =+ HIFFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the directors are required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

The following is the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Provision of ECL for financial assets measured at
amortised cost

Trade receivables with significant balances, trade receivables
classified as credit-impaired and all other financial assets
measured at amortised cost are assessed for ECL individually.

In addition, the Group uses practical expedient in estimating
ECL on trade receivables which are not assessed individually
using a provision matrix. The provision rates are based on
aging of debtors as groupings of various debtors taking into
consideration the Group's historical default rates and forward-
looking information that is reasonable and supportable
available without undue costs or effort. At the end of each
reporting period, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information
are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL are disclosed in note 6.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —F = — £ NF =+ HIFFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:

foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest

rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme

focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks

to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial

performance.

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk
as most of its business transactions, assets and liabilities
are principally denominated in HK$, United States dollar
("USD") and Renminbi (“RMB") which are the functional
currencies of the principal operating entities of the Group.
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group monitors
its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade
receivables, loan receivables, deposits, other receivables
and bank balances. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit
risks associated with its financial assets, except for the
credit risks associated with loan receivables is mitigated
because they are secured by properties located in Hong
Kong. In order to minimise credit risk, the directors review
the recoverable amount of each individual debt regularly
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are recognised
for irrecoverable debts. In the regard, the directors
consider that the Group's credit risk is significantly
reduced.

MR ERE
ZK%Z%V&(%%@E@‘?H@ : SNETR
B EEERKRES S RSB R

&%'JIJ—H?WOZﬁilzﬁﬁaﬂﬁAﬁE@l@E
EPRERHTHAIRAZEE WEK
REAEBMBERRZBENNZER

Exffe

(a) SMEEJE PR

TEBABOEBRZ BEEKRE
BHELGBE =7t (I RARKE
TAR®E) FEEXT2EEERE
ZIMREMER) sHE WAEE L E
BEARIMNERE R - AEBIREFI
IEXZ - BERBE FEETE
REIERREIMNERRE WA RER
ZREIPEARAIIMNE RS

(b) EEREERKRET G
rEBEZEER EEERER

B 5 R Fﬁuﬂzié M RE S HAtEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6.

(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

Internal credit rating Description

WEBIEE TR

Low risk

R B

Watch list

ERRE

Doubtful

Loss

1R

Write-off

ki

=REA

The counterparty has a low risk of default and does
not have any past-due amounts
HFEHFHNENRRE > B RAFAAEEE

Debtor frequently repays after due dates but
usually settle in full
BEHARBREPERREREQERHEN

There have been significant increases in credit risk
since initial recognition through information
developed internally or external resources

BB RIINBERPISERSNEERRS
YR FESB R R IRIB 0

There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-
impaired

ERETEEDEERE

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
FHEEANEBABAREME  MAERE
BEE G W EIRIE
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MBERER @)

(b) EERBERRE G (&)

AEBNAPEERRTREET

HIEER

Trade receivables

B 5 U ARTX

Lifetime ECL —
(not credit-impaired)
ZHTEREERE -
(I \EERE)

Lifetime ECL —
(not credit-impaired)
ZHTEREERE -
(I \EERIE)

Lifetime ECL —
(not credit-impaired)

ZHTEREERE -
(I \EERIE)
Lifetime ECL —
(credit-impaired)
SHATEREERE -
(EEHE)

Amount is written off

5 = BRI EE

Other financial assets

HthEMEE

12m ECL

128 B FEHEEEE

12m ECL

128 B FEHEEEE

Lifetime ECL -

(not credit-impaired)

SHATEEREEEE—
(I #E B R E)

Lifetime ECL —
(credit-impaired)

SHATEEREEEE—
(EERE)

Amount is written off

% = BR A EH



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —F = — £ NF =+ HIFFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has certain
concentration of credit risk as 60% (2021: 95%) and
42% (2021: 97%) of trade receivables are due from
the largest customers and the five largest customers
respectively.

In addition, the Group performed impairment assessment
under ECL model on trade receivables based on
provision matrix equal to lifetime ECLs, except for trade
receivables with significant balances and those classified
as credit-impaired with the gross carrying amounts of
approximately HK$13,703,000 (2021: HK$26,581,000)
and HK$5,623,000 (2021: HK$5,598,000) that are
assessed individually for the year ended 30 June 2022
respectively. Trade receivables based on shared credit risk
characteristics by reference to repayment histories for
recurring customers. Impairment loss of HK$7,035,000
was recognised for the year ended 30 June 2022 (2021:
impairment loss reversed of HK$7,790,000).

MBERER @)

(b) EERBEKRBETE (&)

e B 5 fR 7k

RBEHRR AREWE SRR+ E
60% (CEZ—HF : 95%) &42% (=
T —F197%) DRIARBKRAE
ERARERZHIE WAEBE KR
ETEEEFRR-

o REBRZBEEHREEHIEE
AERERREEFEREHREES
BB EEEHEWRE S RIETT
BET G R B ARAERIEI
“”%EETA&HZ:—?ﬁiE%&IEfD%m
BENEKE SRR (REE

T FXB=+H JtEWIEIJ.ﬁ
HARE 4R E 7 5478 1513,703,0007T
(ZEZ—% : #%26,581,0007T)
B AB#5,623,000 (ZE_——4F : B
5,598,0007T)) ° FEWE ZERATH &
%%%ﬁ'lﬁgﬁ ZEREF IR
FEERBRFEE  BEFIBAE
#%7,035,0007c (ZE = —F : BER
1B #[0]H87,790,00070) REBE_Z
__EANAB=1THLIEFEEFTLRER -

w=mm Gz) sman —e-—=ex 109



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R MBIwRMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Loan receivables

The directors estimate the estimated loss rates of loan
receivables based on historical credit loss experience
of the debtors as well as the fair value of the collateral
pledged by the debtors to the loan receivables. All of loan
receivables are classified as low risk (2021: low risk) as at
30 June 2022.

Based on assessment by the directors, the loss given
default is low in view of the estimated realised amount
of disposal of the collaterals. The Group provided
impairment based on 12m ECL. No impairment loss
was recognised (2021: impairment loss reversed of
HK$327,000) for the year ended 30 June 2022.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the directors make
periodic individual assessment on the recoverability
of other receivables and deposits based on historical
settlement records, past experience, and also quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. The directors
believe that there are no significant increase in credit risk
of these amounts since initial recognition and the Group
provided impairment based on 12m ECL. Impairment loss
of HK$466,000 was reversed (202 1: HK$905,000) for the
year ended 30 June 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —FE - —F XA =+1HIFFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6.

(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Bank balances

The credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
Group uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment
for its customers with common risk characteristics that
are representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all
amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms.
The following table provides information about the
exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which are
assessed based on provision matrix.

MBERER @)

(b)

= 8 E KR E TG ()

RITHEF

MR R ZH 5 AEREEFRIEE
STEREEETRZIRTT  BUERITHE
FZzEERBAR-

ERF-EEZEFERREEZ IR
AEBMNBEBAZKREFGEEER
EHRRBRBRHZERZHE ZF
BRHEURBRERRESHRMX
HPRBEIARIBZAES] o PRARE
BRI LEREZRREERZE
ERBZER -

2022 2022 2022 2021 2021 2021
Z$--F ZB-CE TBIIE | ZBT-F - CTB2T-f%
Average  Grosstrade  Impairment Average Gross trade Impairment
lossrate  receivables allowance loss rate receivables allowance

EWESR EHES
Description H#E THEHEE IRA e HERE | TOEEx R AERE
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$000 HKS 000
BETT BETT BT BT
Current (not past due) e (R 2.94% 14,058 413 4.20% 1,239 52
1-30 days past due BEE30H - - - 71.30% 136 97
31-60 days past due BH31E60H 4.70% 11,261 529 73.33% 15 11
25,319 942 1,390 160
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R MBIwRMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. MIBEMERE @&
(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) (b) EERAMEERBETG @)

112

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL

TRITERBEEHERIBZE

that has been recognised for trade receivables under WE ZEMREMTERAEERENE
simplified approach: .
Lifetime ECL (not Lifetime ECL
credit-impaired)  (credit-impaired) Total
2HRNGEESE 2UEBREEHE
(RBELEERE) CEEEEERE CH
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
BEFT BEFr BEFr
As at 1 July 2020 RZZE-ZE+H—H 57 13,868 13,925
Impairment loss recognised/ ERR/ (BRE) RESE
(reversed) 430 (8,270) (7,790)
As at 30 June 2021 and RIZEZ-F/A=1+Hk
asat 1 July 2021 RIE-—#£tA-H 537 5,598 6,135
Impairment loss recognised ERERERE 7,010 25 7,035
As at 30 June 2022 RZZ__F/RA=+H 7,547 5,623 13,170
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6.

(b) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances
of loan receivables under general approach:

As at 1 July 2020
Impairment loss reversed

As at 30 June 2021, as at 1 July 2021
and as at 30 June 2022

The following table show reconciliation of loss allowance
of other receivables under general approach:

As at 1 July 2020
Impairment loss reversed

As at 30 June 2021 and as at 1 July 2021

Impairment loss reversed

As at 30 June 2022

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —F = — £ NF =+ HIFFE

MBRRERE @)
(b) EEERRRKMESE @)

TR Z—RIEEDEUE R

BB EI AR o
12m ECL
1218 B 78R
EE8E1E
HK$'000
BIEFT
R_BE_FF+H—H 327
B[R ERE (329
ﬁA—v— £|5/\ﬁ +E|‘
N_ZE-_—F+tA—HK
R-EB-Z-&,;B=+H -
TR IE—REEDNEME W
TIEMEBEEEERR
12m ECL
1218 A Fa HF
EEkE
HK$'000
BT T
RN_E_ZTFLH—H 1,371
B EUREEE (905)
RIE_—F~BA=1tHK
R_E_—F+tH—H 466
B EUREEE _ (4e6)
WZEZ_-F#;xB=+H -

113

EEER (R ARAR —F-_FFR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R MBIwRMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. MBEKRER @
(c) Liquidity risk (0 REEREME
The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current and FEEZHREEHERINAKRE
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains HARESHEEME  URRAEBEER
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements THRNRESRENBRCEEHEERE
in the short and longer term. AREsEETHERK.
The maturity analysis based on contractual undiscounted FAEBETEEHMERRAORM
cash flows of the Group's non-derivative financial liabilities BIREREN B RO T -
is as follows:
Less than Total
1year Between Between  undiscounted Carrying
orondemand  1and2years  2and 5 years cash flows amounts
1EUR KBRS
FEEK 1526 2555 HEAR REE
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000

BETT BETr BETT BETr BETT

Asat30June2022 RMIZEZZH;A=+H

Trade and other ENBSREMER
payables 22,322 - - 22,322 22,322
Lease liabilities HEak 3,176 2,916 520 6,612 5,858
25,498 2,916 520 28,934 28,180
As at 30 June 2021 RZE_—&,:B=+H
Trade and other R E 7R AR
payables 20,457 - - 20,457 20,457
Lease liabilities HEaR 3,390 3,179 3,455 10,024 8,429
23,847 3,179 3,455 30,481 28,886
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —FE - —F XA =+1HIFFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(d) Interest rate risk

(e)

(f)

The Group's loan receivables and lease liabilities bear
interest at fixed interest rate and therefore is subject to
fair value interest rate risk.

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk arises from its
bank balances. These deposits bear interests at variable
rates that vary with the then prevailing market conditions.

Except as stated above, the Group has no other significant
interest-bearing assets and liabilities, the Group’s
operating cash flows are substantially independent of
changes in market interest rates.

Categories of financial instruments

TREE !
REH R A SHE

Financial assets:
At amortised cost

TRBRE:
BRI A SHE

Financial liabilities:
At amortised cost

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
that are not measured at fair value on a recurring
basis

The directors considered that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at
amortised cost in the consolidated statement of financial
position approximate to their fair values.

EEER () BRAR

6. MBEKRER @

(d) FIZHmEE

(e)

(f)

rEERRERAREESRZEE
FMRHFHE -EMEEREATFENXR
FEBZHRARKEHRTET
ZEGRDUAHEXRAR LRE

B 2 R RR TR ©

B ECATSIE SN > A B S L

AN B R A AN EEE

DELZRSABARLBIRS
TEL TR
ST AR

2022 2021

—E-C = —F

HK$000 HK$000

BT BT

56,315 72,564

22,322 20,457

WIFUA A FEHERESEEEET
RZEMBEEREMABRZATE

EERR NESH BN KPR E
HHTHEIAZEHEERERER
REEAEAESBNAFERS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

7. REVENUE

Revenue from contracts with customers
within the scope of HKFRS 15:

Sales of swimwear and garment products
Sales of second hand mobile phones
Commission fee from consignment sales
Subcontracting fee income

Revenue from contracts with customers
recognised at a point in time
Revenue from other sources:
Interest income from
money lending business

Transaction allocated to the remaining performance

BBV B|REERIE155%
HLEAREEFBY
CE L ONE

BHE K M AR AR

HE_FREEE

FERAE

DEEWA

RE—RERERREERH
GHIMA

HAhZRUA -

REBEEHZHBHA

obligation for contracts with customers

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph
121 of HKFRS 15 to its sales contract for goods, commission
fee from consignment sales and subcontracting services that

2022 2021
—s-C e
HKS$’000 HK$°000
BT BT
26,921 14,339
28,465 50,406

= 365

903 2,160
56,289 67,270
1,516 3,937
57,805 71,207

Pl =]
Hoon

TEEER
BRFBHEAEEMBREERE
RIBRZETRER  ZEBTERE

%ﬁﬁ =] nlj

PEERBREFGHBRVNEENRS

FERERD

155855

the Group does not disclose information about revenue that EAERNERER %’iﬁ/f& AN
the Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining RBZIHESHNE TR TEBNEERS
performance obligations under the sales contract for goods, EESWANEER Jtl:Tﬁ mREmiHES

commission fee from consignment sales and subcontracting
services that had an original expected duration of one year or

less.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S MR R M EE

BE T —FNA=F+HILFE

OTHER INCOME

Bank interest income
Gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment
Reversal of provision for
employee benefit obligations
Government grants (note)
Gain on early termination of lease
Sundry income
Covid-19-related rent concession

Sale of scrap material

Note:

For the year ended 30 June 2022

8. Hftks=s
2022 2021
—E-C s
HK$’000 HK$'000
ABETFT BT
RITHEUWA 7 11
HEME - BEREE
el & - 3,863
EERA EEEHEO
- 463
BT By (Ba2) 805 825
REKRIEBEEZWE - 29
WA 162 257
—E-NBREEHEHRIER
HEEE - 1,004
THEEER 372 37
1,346 6,489

Government grants were received as refund of value-added tax and export

duty. There were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to

these government grants.

EEER () BRAR

Mt

B W ER T 47 B 7 SR (B AR et O RAAR 2 IR R °
L HUN BN EE P AR IE R ASEH

———

—_——

FER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R MBIwRMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the executive directors, being the chief
operating decision maker (the “CODM"), for the purpose of
monitoring segment performance and allocating resources
between segments that are used to make strategic decisions.

The Group has three operating segments as follows:

Swimwear and — Manufacturing and trading
garment of swimwear and garment
products

E-Commerce and

E-Commerce and provision of on-
on-line shopping line shopping services
related

Money lending — Money lending business

The Group's reportable segments are strategic business units
that offer different products and services. They are managed
separately because each business requires different technology
and marketing strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in
note 4 to the consolidated financial statements. Segment
profits or losses do not include certain other income, certain
finance costs, and corporate administrative. Segment assets
do not include other assets for general administrative use.
Segment liabilities do not include other liabilities for general
administrative use. This is the measure reported to the Group's
management for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR 5 R 75 R M 5E

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —F = — £ NF =+ HIFFE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. AHFEN @)
E-Commerce
Swimwear and on-line
and shopping Money
garment related lending Total
EFEER
KRR B LEEYER &8 s
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$000 HK$'000
BT BT BEFT BEFT
Year ended 30 June 2022 BE-E-C
ANBZHHLEEE
Revenue from external customers ~ REINREE Z WA 27,824 28,465 1,516 57,805
Segment profit/(loss) DEEH (8518) 1,700 (5,821) 1,435 (2,686)
Amounts included in the SIADELER (F#8) &

measure of segment profit/ PHEENEZETH
(loss) or segment assets

Depreciation of property, ME-BERREITE

plant and equipment 330 - - 330
Depreciation of right-of-use assets AR EENE 316 977 - 1,293
Impairment losses recognised REEHEEHBEEN

under expected credit losses BN ERE

model, net of reversal MRl (455) 7,024 = 6,569
Additions to REFRBEE (W)

non-current assets (note) 204 - - 204
As at 30 June 2022 RZEZZ&RB=1+H
Segment assets NHEE 14,209 30,868 17,258 62,335
Segment liabilities Vak-0=C 29,815 1,011 9 30,835

w2Em (i) ARaE —s=—zzx | 19



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R MBIwRMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 9. DEEN @)

E-Commerce
Swimwear and on-line
and shopping Money
garment related lending Tota
EF@EHR
KERRE  BLEYERE &8 st
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT EETT EETr FETr
Year ended 30 June 2021 HE_Z_—F
NA=THLEE
Revenue from external customers ~ ZRESMNREE ZUA 16,499 50,771 3,937 71,207
Segment profit T ER A 4,076 7,080 3,164 14,320
Amounts included in the measure 5+ A 7 B8 &7/
of segment profit or segment DEEETEZTHE
assets
Depreciation of property, ME-BERREITE
plant and equipment 310 - - 310
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEENE 625 981 23 1,629
Gain on disposal of property, HEME -BERSZEZ
plant and equipment g 3,863 - - 3,863
Loss on written off of property, MENE -BRERREZ
plant and equipment 18 39 - - 3%
Write-down of inventories MRES 48 - - 48
Impairment losses recognised REEREEHBEEREN
under expected credit losses R RERE
model, net of reversal 10FRHE ] (4,061) (4,634) (327) (9,022)
Additions to NEFREEE (i)
non-current assets (note) 115 884 - 999
As at 30 June 2021 RZE-—%,A=+H
Segment assets NBEE 9,801 36,648 20,260 66,709
Segment liabilities NEBEE 25,623 3,943 = 29,566

Note: Included additions to property, plant and equipment and right-of-

use assets.

Eo
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Reconciliations of segment profit or loss:

Total profit or loss of reportable segments
Unallocated amounts:

Other income

Administrative expenses

Finance costs

Consolidated loss for the year

AR E S R mARE
ROFEE

H U e
THER
MBS

FANGREEE

SEER @)

S ERHR 2 HIAR ¢

2022 2021
—E-= —B-—&
HK$000 HK$'000
BT AT T
(2.686) 14,320

19 2,991
(12,929) (23,249)
- (49)

(15,596) (5,987)




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R MBIwRMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Reconciliations of segment assets and liabilities:

Assets BE

Total assets of reportable segments RSN HEERE
Other assets Hih&EE
Consolidated total assets HEEEMEE
Liabilities af&E

Total liabilities of reportable segments RSN HEERE
Other liabilities Hthas
Consolidated total liabilities meaBEE

Apart from the above, the total of other material items

disclosed in the segment information are the same as the

consolidated total.

122
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9. EPEH @

DHEERBRZHIR !

2022 2021
—s-C e
HKS$’000 HK$°000
BT BT
62,335 66,709
3,012 14,025
65,347 80,734
30,835 29,566
1,472 2,759
32,307 32,325

HEHBER

BrEZES RO ERNEZ HMEXR
ARG ABEAER o



SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Geographical information:

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —F = — £ NF =+ HIFFE

The Group's revenue from external customers by location of

the customers and information about its non-current assets by

location of assets are detailed below:

Hong Kong (country of
domicile)

PRC (exclude
Hong Kong and Macau)

United States of America

United Kingdom

Spain

The Netherlands

Italy

France

Germany

Greece

Cambodia

Others

Total

&% (GEftE)

FE (FEEEERR
%ﬂg &R
HE
LT
ol
BEAH
EE

ZE

#E
RIBE
Hth

48

i ﬁ*

F9)

9. DEEF @)
MEER
FEEFRBINRERZINA BERME
o) REBEIERSEESK REEM
B9 ) T
Revenue Non-current assets
A FraEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—ECCE BT —& —E_CE “EC—fF
HKS$'000 HK$ 000 HKS$'000 HK$ 000
BT BETT BT BETT
3,927 4,471 290 606
26,773 2,542 3,179 4,326
1,429 - = =
16,306 6,939 = -
720 7,072 - d
3,192 3,568 - -
3,685 13,834 - i
690 11,642 - -
807 8,638 - i
4 3,283 = -
- 1,926 - -
272 7,292 - il
57,805 71,207 3,469 4,932
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue from major customers:

Swimwear and garment segment
Customer A

E-Commerce and on-line shopping
related segment
Customer B

*

9. NEFEH @

TKEE R R EE 2 2B
ZAA

BT A RELEY
= bRl
= FB

The corresponding revenue does not contribute over 10% of the

total revenue of the Group in the respective year.

Except for disclosed above, no other customers contributed

10% or more to the Group's revenue for both years.

10. FINANCE COSTS

Interest on lease liabilities
Interest on other loan
Interest on loan from a shareholder

10.

HE&ENE
HE ™R B
RE—BEREERHE
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KEETEERZKA:

2022
———

—_—<—_—

HK$°000
BT

16,263

5,804

2021
—E-—fF
HK$°000
BETT

N/A 758 3 *

N/A 38 A3 *

* HEERRARSFERRESAEBRNBEA
HREE10% ©

BREXFrIREEN  WEEMBERRZE
FEHAEERNWRATRI0%U Lo

R EE S

2022 2021
-z T
HK$000 HK$'000
BIEFT BHEF T
844 1,132

- 49

- 1,060

844 2,241




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —FE - —F XA =+1HIFFE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of the Hong
Kong Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the
qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of
group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors considered the amount involved upon
implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of
the Hong Kong Profits Tax as insignificant to the consolidated
financial statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at
16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law"”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

Cambodia corporate income tax is calculated at 20% of the
estimated assessable profit for both years.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax, PRC Enterprise Income
Tax and Cambodia corporate income tax has been made for
both years as the Group has no assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong, PRC and Cambodia.

1. FRISMREX

R B 1S I0 HY M 4R R IR R 6=
GEREBRBRENEAB2BEE Tar R
18.25% IR R MBAEE2BEE T
B F R 1216.5 % B IR REIR o R AT 5 M
REIFBRERFEERZERER 2 G
HR B 1% 8 — TR R 16.5% BINIR IR °

EER5 BEEBNFRAIM ARG TS
MEGIEFY RNEERENIEEMHR
RMEMPEE - MEFENEEFER
R SHERENAY16.5%5t H o

REREEZEMRERZE (RERERZED)
REZEFRBABIZA > HEMEAS
B FEZ KT 725% °

SRIE R 1 ¥ P S PR T 1B 4 f 51 ER
B F#920% 5t 8 o

MARAEERWEFEHERER  PEH
R R E E LRV FEERIRER] > S R F
BARANGKR PREEEMSHARBERE
ESREERE-

wmEm (20 swam —s-—xzzm | 2D



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R MBIwRMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

11.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The reconciliation between the income tax credit and the
product of loss before tax multiplied by the Hong Kong Profits
Tax rate is as follows:

1. FIEMRHEX @)

TNHBFAERIE R BRI A ERIUE
BHEREMERBZHR

2022 2021
g T
HK$'000 HK$'000
EBEFT BT
Loss before tax PRI AT RS IB (15,596) (5,987)
Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate ?@Z*‘}%%U’Eﬁ?1 6.5%
of 16.5% (2021:16.5%) BT
TR ZIRIE (2,573) (988)
Tax effect of income that is not taxable ~ HB7ERIRUIRA Z IR FE £ (504) (1,829)
Tax effect of expenses that are not RAJ NS 2 MBEE
deductible 1,729 581
Tax effect of estimated tax losses not RIERMETRIBEIE
recognised mMETE 1,227 2,668
Tax effect of utilisation of estimated tax ~ BRI ARFERIRIBEE Y
losses previously not recognised MBE (64) (132)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries 5 EfthE]5% %E%ﬁéﬁ%?‘ﬁ’] 5}
operating in other jurisdictions BABARRREZ 185 (300)
Income tax credit FRISIRIE R = -

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has estimated
unrecognised tax losses of approximately HK$120,728,000
(2021: HK$113,403,000) available for offset against future
profits and are subject to the approval of the respective tax
authorities. No deferred tax asset has been recognised due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included
in unrecognised tax losses are losses of approximately
HK$1,014,000 (2021: HK$1,110,000) that related to PRC
Enterprise Income Tax will be expired within 5 years. Other tax
losses may be carried forward indefinitely.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —F = — £ NF =+ HIFFE

12. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

The Group's loss for the year is stated after charging/(crediting)

the following:

Auditor’s remuneration for audit services
Cost of inventories sold (including in cost
of sales and services rendered)
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Expenses related to short-term leases
Impairment losses recognised under
expected credit losses model,
net of reversal:
— trade and other receivables
— loan receivables
Loss on written off of property, plant and
equipment
Net foreign exchange losses
Write-down of inventories

12. FAEE

S

ZEENE RN =

BHEFERA Gt AHE KFA
RERFBBIANA)

ME BB RRFEITE

EREEENE

B EAR R

REFRIREEBEEEDHN
B RS IE  FNFREE

- R B 5 K LM BRR
- B ERR
YD~ B S sr i iEE 2 B5 1R

SMNERSIRFER
WomFS

EEER (R ARAR —F-_FFR

= ——

2022
—E-F
HK$°000
BT
450
33,845
330

1,293
79

6,569

1,327

FEBZFNEBEEMNMG GIA) THE

2021

— %
HK$'000
BT

460

55,613

310
1,749

(8,695)
(327)

396
720
48

127



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

13. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE

s s Ah

HBTEAL
RIKBA] 5 BIHERX

Salaries and allowances

Discretionary bonuses

Retirement benefit schemes
contributions

There was no forfeiture of retirement benefit schemes
contributions for both years.

(a) Pensions-defined contribution plans
Contribution totalling approximately HK$14,599,000

(2021: HK$14,146,000) were payable to employee for
the year ended 30 June 2022.
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13. EERFMX

2022 2021

- Jonlond e
HKS$’000 HK$°000
BT BT
13,271 16,162

606 495

1,640 1,392
15,517 18,049

1S 00 {81 £F 2 3t 38 0% WCR R AE ) 5t B iR o

(a)

BAhE - EEREREE

BE_Z__H#XXB=+THLHF
ErAEERMEHMEENRBE
14,599,00070 (Z B - —F | B
14,146,0007T) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —F = — £ NF =+ HIFFE

13. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (Continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the
year included 1 (2021: 1) director whose emoluments
are reflected in the analysis presented in note 14. The
emoluments of the remaining 4 (2021: 4) individuals are
set out below:

Salaries and allowances s RoERL
Discretionary bonuses EIBTEAL
Retirement benefit schemes BB HEIHE

contributions

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

13. EERFABEX @

(b) EHEREHMAL

REFE  AEELZRESHMAL
BE—R2EF(CET—F: %)
HE BRI 14FF 25 Z 2 4 R
[Rbge Herl% (T = —F | [04)
ANTZ B EHImT

2022 2021

—E-C B

HK$'000 HK$'000

AT BT T

1,712 1,665

134 190

51 71

1,897 1,926
BRI B T &S -

Number of individual

A
2022 2021
k- S TE =
Nil to HK$1,000,000 ZE11,000,0007T 4 4

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office
for both years. None of five highest paid individuals
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments for both
years.

AEERZEMEFERERLS
B 2 # B A £ 1 1E ] A S AT AR AT B
TR B REMARER LR
PN Z B2 R Bl 15 75 R B Al 18 - i
IREeHFMALIRZENEFE
BEHEEREE M-

EREN () ARAR —S-—F5E | 29



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

14. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

(a) Directors’ and chief executive officer's emoluments

The remuneration of the directors and chief executive

officer is set out below:

14, EFRITHRBRZH m kg

() EFRATEAREZHM

BREFRTBBHZFHMEIINT !

Retirement benefit
Fees Salaries and allowances Discretionary bonuses schemes contribution Total
g HEREM RBTEA BINERI IR @t
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
ot bt ZBT-F | Z%ZZ ZEC-fF | Z%ZZ ZBI-F | Z%ZZ “Z°-F | ZEZZ 3
HKS000 HK$ 000 HKS$000 HKS$ 000 HKS'000 HK$ 000 HKS$'000 HK$ 000 HKS'000 HK$ 000
BT | BETr | BEFm | BbTa | BEFm | EETa | BEFm | BbkTao | BEFm | Ao
Executive directors WTES
Chan Hiu Kwan R (FrH4%)
(Chief executive officer) - - 1,188 1,020 206 190 18 18 1412 1,228
Lau Chun Fat, George flid - - - - - - - - - -
- - 1,188 1,020 206 190 18 18 1412 1,228
Independent non- BIFRTES
executive directors
Fung Chan Man, Alex BIEX 96 9% - = = = - = % 9%
Tam Wing Kin ERR 9% % - - - - - - 9% 9%
Lee Chung Mong, John ~ Z&7 9% % - - - - - - 9% 96
288 288 - - - - - - 288 288
288 288 1,188 1,020 206 190 18 18 1,700 1,516

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

Ms. Chan Hiu Kwan is also the chief executive officer of
the Group and her emoluments disclosed above include
those for services rendered by her as the chief executive
officer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —F = — £ NF =+ HIFFE

14. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive officer's emoluments
(Continued)

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors
and chief executive officer as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office for both years. None of the directors and chief
executive officer has waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments for both years.

(b) Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements and contracts

Except for disclosed in note 33, no other significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to
the Group's business to which the Company was a party
and in which a director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the reporting
period or at any time during the year.

15. DIVIDENDS
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders

of the Company during 2022, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period (2021: nil).

14. EFRITHRBRZH m KR (4

() EERTHABRZIHM @

AEEIMEEEREREERT
BB SN (R IMARER R
MAEREERESNFERBER
BE -RMEFEREESRITEE
BWENEEREWEERME

(b) EFENRH -LHRENFZEKXF

Y

PRMYSE33FAIMEEE IN R AT BT
YRAEBEBERAMRERRAS
ERNEREEEAROoENRS
RAARNAFEERAFENBERZH
tEBEARRS LHRE4

15. IRE
ARNBR _BE__FETERZERAE

RIS IR S B IR E RIS
REZREEARE CE—F 18

wEER (am) AR —s-—szn 131



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

16. LOSS PER SHARE
Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share attributable to owners
of the Company is based on the loss for the year attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately HK$15,256,000
(2021: HK$5,170,000) and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 790,033,000 (2021: 779,661,000) in issue
for the year ended 30 June 2022.

Diluted loss per share
The exercise of the Group's outstanding convertible non-
voting preference shares would be anti-dilutive for both years.

Diluted loss per share was the same as the basic loss per share
for both years.
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16. BiRES1E

BREXHE

AABBEEABHEEREARAEEIR
BARBDBEABRGLZERNEBBROSE
#15,256,0007 0 (ZEZ—F | B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR 5 R 75 R M 5E

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —F = — £ NF =+ HIFFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. ME-BERZHE
Furniture,
fixture
Leasehold Plant and and office Motor
improvement machinery equipment vehicles Total
i EER
HEMERE TR Rt 28 YN HE g
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000
BIEFT BIEFT BT BT BT
Cost and valuation: AR fhifE
As at 1July 2020 RIEZ2E+HE—H 11,738 798 1,809 2,941 17,286
Additions P 116 - - - 116
Disposal and written off HERMH (8,062) (798) (746) (909) (10,515)
As at 30 June 2021 and RZEZ-FXA=+H
asat 1 July 2022 R _E-__FtA—H 3,792 - 1,063 2,032 6,887
Additions PR - - - 204 204
As at 30 June 2022 RZETTERA=TH 3,792 - 1,063 2,236 7,091

Accumulated depreciationand B HTERHME :

impairment:
Asat 1 July 2020 RZIZZTELFA—H 10,450 - 1,640 2,747 14,837
Charged for the year FRIA 173 - 85 52 310
Eliminated upon disposal and HE R o B B

written off (8,062) - (746) (909) 9,717)
As at 30 June 2021 and RZEZ—FB=+H

asat 1 July 2022 RR-E--#tA—H 2,561 - 979 1,890 5,430
Charged for the year FRIA 226 - 33 71 330
As at 30 June 2022 RZZEZ"FB=+H 2,787 - 1,012 1,961 5,760
Carrying amounts: REfE:
As at 30 June 2022 RZBZZF;A=1H 1,005 - 51 275 1,331
As at 30 June 2021 RIZ2Z—F~A=1H 1,231 - 84 142 1,457

wREM (20 AWAT —E--—=xm 133



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R MBIwRMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 18. FHEEE

Leased
properties
HEMmE
HK$'000
BT
Cost: B :
As at 1 July 2020 RZZEZZFtLtHA—H 5,479
Additions ER 884
Early termination of lease RATARIETRE (2,240)
Exchange realignment B R % 582
As at 30 June 2021 and as at 1 July 2021 N TEC—FRA=1THK
RN_ZE_—F+tHA—H 4,705
Termination of leases HLIERE (309)
Exchange realignment bE AR (101)
As at 30 June 2022 RZE__F#,xB=+H 4,295
Accumulated depreciation and impairment: R ERRAIE !
As at 1 July 2020 N_Z2ZZTFtHA—H 438
Charged for the year FRR 1,749
Eliminated upon early termination of lease TR RIA% IEFE B i BR (1,038)
Exchange realignment b R FEEE 81
As at 30 June 2021 and as at 1 July 2021 N BT —FRA=1+HK
RN_ZE_—F+tHA—H 1,230
Charged for the year F IR 1,293
Termination of leases mIEFEE (309)
Exchange realignment PR A (57)
As at 30 June 2022 RIEZ"FxB=+H 2,157
Carrying amounts: ARMEME -
As at 30 June 2022 R-ZE-_F;xA=+H 2,138
As at 30 June 2021 R_ZE_—F/,B=+H 3,475
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —F = — £ NF =+ HIFFE

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

The Group leases various offices for its operations. Lease
agreements are typically made for fixed periods ranging from
1 to 4 years for both years. Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms
and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies
the definition of a contract and determines the period for
which the contract is enforceable. The lease agreements do
not impose any covenants and the leased assets may not be
used as security for borrowing purposes.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for offices.
As at 30 June 2022, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar
to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term
lease expense disclosed above.

In addition to the portfolio of short-term leases which are
regularly entered into by the Group, the Group entered into
several short-term leases for office during the year ended
30 June 2022. As at 30 June 2022, the outstanding lease
commitments relating to short-term leases is approximately
HK$239,000.

The total cash outflow for leases amounted to approximately
HK$3,486,000 (2021: HK$2,537,000) for the year ended 30
June 2022.

18. FHHESE @)

FEBEEZEMAEHEEEZA-
w8 F 2 P78 & 17 % BY [E] & HABR — AR /v
FRrR—=20F AR ENEEERHE
B WEE—RINEERRRAGE - EE
TE 7H BR Ko 5F i 1 ) BEH HA 75 A HA (R B
FEEBAANNERREEGN TR
HE0 1T BYHARR o I 4 ¥ 1H S 173 s e AN A 17
R MBEEBEEFSBFERARNIE
file

FEBTERAMMAETUAAMBEN KT
T _FRNA=tH ZFEHEEES
HBIENKREEHEEERNEHESEE
GAEBLe

BRTAEB I INRHAESHESIN
REBRBE_S __F,A=+tHIE
FEAMMAERS] 7 ZEGHABEN R
TR FEARB=1+8B HEHEERRE
I RE IR B AIEL 7 81,239,000t °

BE_S-__H,\B=1+HLEE-AE
ZIRERMB4EEEL 4 B 1K 3,486,0007T (T
T —4 : HK2,537,0007T) °
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Particulars of the subsidiaries at the end of each reporting

period are as follows:

Name

£y

Easy Time Trading Limited

Easy Time Trading Limited

Synergy Chain Limited

Synergy Chain Limited

Luxey International (Hong
Kong) Limited

EZER (BH) BRA

Luxey International Group
Limited

BEERERFRAA

Habille Limited

Habille Limited

Luxey Online Solution
Limited

EXELERERAR

Ratio Knitting Factory
Limited (“Ratio”)

HEBEBARAS (7
#))

Place/country of
incorporation/
registration

and operation
S ERIINE
BiRkEE
HE,/BR

British Virgin
Islands
("BVI")

HEBRUEE
(IEER%
HE))

BVI

HBELHE

Hong Kong

3
Hong Kong

Y

Hong Kong
)

BVI

EBREUEHE

Hong Kong

19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particular of

issued share capital/
registered capital/
paid up capital

BEfTksHEREs/
BRREHE

1 ordinary share of USD1

RIZETZEBR

1 ordinary share of USD1
RIETZEBR
10,000 ordinary shares

10,000/ Z& K
100 ordinary shares

100 BERK

1 ordinary share
REER

100 ordinary shares of
USD1each

100 EREEIZTZ

el
500,000 ordinary shares

500,000/ & 3&

F_E - _FNA=FHIEFE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R MBIwRMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #%

19. RMBARZIRE

Proportion of ownership interests

held by the Company
AARRAZARARZERL
2022 2021
8- T
Direct Indirect Direct
B i L
100% - 100%
100% - 100%
100% - 100%
100% - 100%
100% - 100%
- 100% -
- 100% -
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F
Indirect
k3

100%

100%

Proportion of voting

power held by
the Company
SRAFAFEZ
REEZBEDL
2022 2021
—ECE “TT—F
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%

REREHR MBATZFBEUT !

Principal activities

TEEH

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding and
trading

REERKES

Microfinance business

INERBEEH

Inactive

E-Commerce and
provision of on-line
shopping services

EFBBREG®AL
BYIRT

Investment holding
and trading of high-
end swimwear and
related garment
products

REZREEERK
KRR RS
Em



Name

kY

Ricotex Industrial Company
Limited (“Ricotex”)

HEENKARA (7
=)
Ricotex Industrial Co., Ltd.

Ricotex Industrial Co., Ltd.
(TRicotex Cambodia )
Luxey Vision Company
Limited
EXRRERAE
Yofiel International Group
Limited
ZEERERBRAR
Nice Sky (China) Limited
X (hE) BRAS
Global Post E-Commerce
Trading Limited*
(“Global Post")
REEEES (F) BR

27 (RH))

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —FE - —F XA =+1HIFFE

Place/country of
incorporation/
registration

and operation
SR AR I,
BiRkEE
e,/ AR

Hong Kong

&%

Cambodia

REE
Hong Kong

&%
Hong Kong

&%
Hong Kong
&%
PRC

e

19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Particular of

issued share capital/
registered capital/
paid up capital

BEfIksGRES/
BRRAFE

10,000 ordinary shares

10,0008 B &A%

Registered capital of
USD1,000,000/paid up
capital of USD1,000,000
SME41,000,000%7T,/
B#RAEA1,000,000% 7T

100 ordinary shares

100/ & B
10,000 ordinary shares

10,000 B3& R
3,000,000 ordinary shares
3,000,0008% & &R
Registered capital of
RMBA4,000,000/paid up
capital of RMB4,000,000
HBEAARE
4,000,0007T,/
BREREARE
4,000,0007T

19. RIBARZKE @)

Proportion of ownership interests

held by the Company
AARRAZRARZERL
2022 2021
—g8-C =
Direct Indirect Direct
B i BE
- 50% -
- 50% -
- 100% -
- 100% -
- 50% -
- 100% -

EEER () BRAR

F
Indirect
k3

50%

50%

51%

100%

50%

100%

Proportion of voting

power held by
the Company
TAFARFEZ
REEZELL
2022 2021
ZEIZE T”-&%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%

Principal activities

TEEH

Investment holding and
trading of garment
products and
swimwear

REERKEERSE
Emkiki

Inactive

Inactive

Inactive

Inactive

Inactive

2RI
i3
e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R MBIwRMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 EtZE —F = —£F;NH =1 HIFFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 19. RBRABIZKRE (&
Place/country of Particular of
incorporation/ issued share capital/ Proportion of voting
registration registered capital/ Proportion of ownership interests power held by
Name and operation paid up capital held by the Company the Company Principal activities
SEM AR
BiRkE BRTRE/FRES/ FRAFARFEZ
i HE/BX HRBRAFER FARRAZARARZERL RREZASLL TEEH
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-C ZZ-fF ZEIZF T8
Direct Indirect Direct Indirect

Ei# G B ik

IPImERHBRKER  PRC Registered capital of - 100% - 100% 100% 100%  Inactive
NE(IMHESR") HK$9,500,000/paid up
capital of HK$8,100,000
IPmERHERKER & AMEREE EEX
A (TIFIHE38)) 9,500,0007T,/
BAERAE
#18,100,0007¢
REFERKERAA PRC Registered capital of - 100% - 100% 100% 100%  Manufacturing and
("REAE") HK$8,000,000/paid up trading of high-
capital of HK$8,000,000 end swimwear and
related garment
products
RENERKBRAT HE AMEREL fERBERRXE
(TRZ=FIED) 8,000,0007T, DR IERE RS E R
BHERABLE
8,000,007
*  The English name of this company represents management’s best * PR EE A MEX AR AU R E]
efforts in translating the Chinese name of this company as no CHENEBHSEEBREAZNHREFX
English name has been registered. B IEEETAK
Global Post, ;T P9 &%, BS54 are wholly-owned foreign IREIFIMESE - REMEDR AR
enterprises established in the PRC. ﬁZ%F:ﬁ?%ﬁu:% °
None of the subsidiaries had debt securities outstanding at RSB RN RFEEEM B% fE o #
the end of the reporting period or at any time during the year ERBARBREAREBEERKSES CF
(2021: nil). “—F ) e
Except for Ricotex, the directors consider that the Group’s NCI PR S EIN ERRAERER Z IEERE
were insignificant to the Group and thus are not separately mHAEETAEA AT ERZEW
presented in these financial statements for both years. In BEFENEMHBRRPEILZS] L5
addition, no separate financial information of these non- mEBER2YZE2ENBRBZEILH
wholly owned subsidiaries is required to be presented. BEK o

1 3 8 Luxey International (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —FE - —F XA =+1HIFFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The following table shows information of subsidiaries that
have NCI material to the Group. The summarised financial
information represents amounts before inter-company
eliminations.

Name %8

TEE MBI

Principal place of business/place of

19. RMBARZKE @)

TRETMBRARZER  HEER 2 IFE
REDHAEBRMS BEKR - MBERE
25 AR ERERIREER -

Ricotex

MEE
2022 2021
—ECHF BT —F

Hong Kong/Hong Kong

incorporation
% of ownership interestsivoting rights ~ JE¥ERRERFIIFE Z
held NC| AR REET DL

As at 30 June:

RARB=+H:

Non-current assets ERBNEE
Current assets MENEE
Non-current liabilities ERBIEE
Current liabilities mENEE
Net liabilities aEFE
NCI JEVERR Em

EH BB

50%/0% 50%/0%
2022 2021
—E-C —EC—fF
HK$°000 HK$°000
BBFT BT T

554 671
(1,935) (3,379)
(38,043) (36,038)
(39,424) (38,746)
(19,712) (19,373)

w=Em (z1) sman —e-—zen |39



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R MBIwRMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

20.

Year ended 30 June:

Revenue

Loss for the year

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Loss and total comprehensive loss
attributable to NCI

Dividend paid to NCI

Net cash generated from/(used in)
operating activities

Net cash (used in)/generated from
financing activities

Net cash outflow

INVENTORIES

Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods

BE/SA=+tHLEFE:

LN

FARIE

FALEEEBEE

FRIER B EIL
BRkEEBEGE

SN FIRERERZRE

RERBPRE, (FRA)
REPER

RIEEE) FTA) TS
REPER

R M P 2R

20. &

[RFA
ExRm
Al am

1 4 O Luxey International (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2022

19. RIBARZKE @)

2022 2021
—E__F B —F
HKS$°000 HK$'000
BT BT

— 1,926
(678) (1,632)
(678) (1,632)
(339) (816)
1,801 (3,799)
(1,917) 1,477
(116) (2,322)

2022 2021
T T
HKS$’000 HK$'000
BT BT
475 420

1,869 109
3,138 2,612
5,482 3,141




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR 5 R 75 R M 5E

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —F = — £ NF =+ HIFFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables from contracts with
customers
Less: allowance for credit losses

Trade receivables, net of allowance for
credit losses

Prepayment and deposits

Other receivables

21. BN E 5 R E AR

REEREHNZ
PR B 5 8RR
B EERREE

FEWE 7 8RR

R EEmEE R
AR g E
H A FEWRIA

As at 1 July 2020, trade receivables from contracts with

customers (before allowance for credit losses) amounted to

approximately HK$19,191,000.

The Group's trading terms with customers are mainly on credit.

The credit terms generally range from 14 to 180 days. Each

customer has a maximum credit limit. For new customers,

payment in advance is normally required. The Group seeks

to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables.

Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the directors.

EEER (R ARAR —F-_FFR

2022 2021
—E-= —E-
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT BHFT
44,645 33,569
(13,170) (6,135)
31,475 27,434
1,472 1,657

307 6,664

33,254 35,755

A —E_TELtHA—H BREREYN
R GHREEEBREFHZA) AR BK
19,191,0007T ©

FERREFENEZFERUEERE -
EEH—MNTI14E180K - BUKFY
REEEERBE-HERBEARLMN
o AEEB AN ERBRIRIEGREER
WM EEERER ARG
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R MBIwRMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 21. ENE B KREMIRRR (&

The aging analysis of trade receivables, based on earlier of the
invoice date or revenue recognition date, and net of allowance
for credit losses, is as follows:

0 - 30 days 0&F30k
31-90 days 31TREIOKR
91 - 180 days 91 XRE180K
Over 180 days HBiB180K

Trade receivables with carrying amounts of approximately
HK$17,830,000 (2021: HK$4,327,000) (net of allowance
for credit losses) were past due at the end of the reporting
period. As at 30 June 2022, trade receivables with the gross
carrying amounts of approximately HK$5,623,000 (2021:
HK$5,598,000) were past due more than 90 days and fully
(2021: fully) impaired. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 6.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other
receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

HK$ B
usD =T
RMB AR#
Others Efh
Total 4EZE

1 42 Luxey International (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2022

REDHMNWARERBSE UREES
) StZ W B ZRRINREEERER
ZERE AT -

2022 2021
—ECCF BT —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
5,539 2,931

812 6,927

7,294 13,249
17,830 4,327
31,475 27,434

EEE JWREEEEEE) N BK
17,830,000 (ZE - —&F : B8
4,327,0007T) Z EWE SRR IR E AR

2aifle-N _E__F,BA=1H’ 4R
HE{EL 5,623,000t (CE-—F B
#5,598,0007T) ZFH&%%EE L E 38 #A90

AU LT ERH(TZE-—F B M
{E AEEE I B R AR A AR

BTG Z 5F B E I 5E6

rEEZERRE S REMERRZREE
LUFHNEHR AN

2022 2021
—_E__ —E—F
HK$000 HK$'000
BT BT T
29,338 33,900
3,053 702

863 1,131

= 22

33,254 35,755




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —F = — £ NF =+ HIFFE

22. LOAN RECEIVABLES

Fixed rate secured loan receivables 1 P FE IR [E B A1) R 3

within 1 year

The interest rate was ranging from 9.5% to 10.0% as at 30
June 2022 (2021: ranging from 9.5% to 10.0%,).

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
loans receivable to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by management.

All of loan receivables are pledged by properties owned by the
borrowers as collaterals for both years. There has not been any
significant change in the quality of the collateral held for loan
receivables. The Group has not recognised a loss allowance for
loan receivables for both years as a result of these collaterals.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 6.

All loan receivables are denominated in HK$.

22. EIRE ™

2022 2021
—E-C B
HK$°000 HK$ 000
BT BT T
=/
16,300 18,700

A _E___FAB=1TH AXANTF
95%ZFE10.0% (ZE-Z—F : NFI5%=E
10.0%) ©

FEBR NN ERFBREBERREZRK
ERMUERARERBEERR EEETE
HAE ARG RR

PB4 > PR A IR E R LUE TR B
B2 R ARG o B I E R
BEZBRRzERZTEEREH - AINZ
FH aR 0 A S IS 18 4 0 A LA LR
[ E/REERY SR SE

B FHEEF B RN I EE6 .

AR ERIGLUBIESHE -

wzEm 2w smas —s-—z=a 143



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

23. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

As at 30 June 2022, the bank balances and cash of the
Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
HK$1,143,000 (2021: HK$2,031,000).

As at 30 June 2022, the bank balances and cash of
the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC denominated in
RMB amounted to approximately HK$593,000 (2021:
HK$1,818,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is
subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations.

For the years ended 30 June 2022 and 2021, the Group
performed impairment assessment on bank balances and
concluded that the probability of defaults of the counterparty
banks are insignificant, no allowance for ECL is provided for
the years.

1 4 4 Luxey International (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2022

23. IRITEEFERIRE

N ZEZITFARBE=ZTH AXEBEMUA

REABUZRTEERRSNABIE
1,143,0007¢ (Z&Z—4 : /B12,031,000
7T) ©

RIEZZHFRA=1+H xEERFEH
ZHBREIUARBABUZIRITER
RIRE 448 18593,0007 (CEBEZ—4F .
75151,818,0007T) - AR RIMAINEER
SRR PR INEEIRIRH R ASE - EE
RATEBIERTE o

BE_Z__HFRFEZ—F,B=+
HIEFE  REBHIRITEFETREN
B RARZEFRITELONATELER
AR ZEFESHREREERHIR
B o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —F = — £ NF =+ HIFFE

24. BB 5 R E AR

2022 2021
—E-= T —F
HK$000 HK$000
FBEFT BT T
Trade payables EINI=RZ N 3,383 3,266
Amount due to a substantial shareholder FEft—% F B E 2 RN

(note) (Ht7) 100 100
Contract liabilities 553 622
Accruals and other payables FEST & A R H (T AR 18,839 17,091
22,875 21,079

Note: The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. Kt © ZEIEAEIRE ¢8R EREREE

Accruals and other payables mainly comprised of accrued staff
costs approximately HK$14,599,000 (2021: HK$14,146,000).

FEstERREMEMNTIBETECEE ST
BT A #E14,599,0007t (ZE = —4F .
H£14,146,0007T) ©

As at 1 July 2020, contract liabilities amounted to W_E_EFLtA—H aNBENAES

approximately HK$620,000.

Contract liabilities represented advance payments received
from customers for sales of goods pursuant to the respective

#%620,0007T ©

BHEREREREFRIEERERRA
REEREESOMNEHEERARE R Héz

sales contracts before the control of the products are passed to BY OB~ =R IE o

the customers.

The Group classifies these contract liabilities as current because
the Group expects these balances to be settled in its normal
operating cycle which is within 12 months after the end of the

reporting period.

FEERZSENERNERRT RA
%ﬁ%@ﬁﬁﬁ% E?Hﬁfﬁ! fR=EE
BHAH (Eﬂ%ﬁiﬁﬁm ®12BA M) EfT -

wzER 2@ smas —z-—zxz 145



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

The aging analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice date
or date of receipt of goods, is as follows:

0 - 30 days 0F30K

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other payables
are denominated in the following currencies:

HK$ i
RMB AR
usD ETT
Total 4azE

1 4 6 Luxey International (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2022

24. EITE S REMIRR @)

2022
—EBE-F
HK$°000
B FT

3,383

REZHHNWEBRFZENEZRK
TARB DA -

2021
T
HK$'000
BT

3,266

rEEZERMES REMERRZREE

BURINE R EAL

2022 2021

—EZCF —ET—F

HK$000 HK$°000

EEFT BIETFT

3,378 6,194

17,269 14,551

2,228 334

22,875 21,079




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR 5 R 75 R M 5E

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —F = — £ NF =+ HIFFE

25. LEASE LIABILITIES

Within one year

More than one year but less than
two years

More than two year but less than
five years

25 FHEA&E

—FR
BE—FELRMmE

BEWFELNAE

The range of weighted average effective incremental
borrowing rate were ranging from 4.33% to 17.50% (2021:

from 4.33% to 17.50%).

The Group's lease liabilities are denominated in functional

currency of respective group entities.

NN 15 B R 1
F17.50% (ZEZ-—F . T F4.33%F

2022 2021

k- e TR
HK$°000 HK$°000
EETT BT
2,637 2,550

2,711 5,355

510 524

5,858 8,429
EERFER/NTF433%

EEER (R ARAR —F-_

FER

EERNURERERZY
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

26. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

As at 1 July 2020 N ZEZEFLHB—H

Additional provisions NERE

Reversal of provisions B R

Exchange realignment P& R EE

As at 30 June 2021 and KRB —FRA=+HK
as at 1 July 2021 R_ZE-_—%tHB—H

Additional provisions NEEE

Exchange realignment R

As at 30 June 2022 RZEZZHRA=1+H

Notes:

(a) Provision for long services payments

Under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, the Group is obliged
to make lump sum payments on cessation of employment in certain
circumstances to certain employees who have completed at least five
years of services with the Group. The amount payable is dependent
on the employees’ final salary and years of services, and is reduced
by entitlements accrued under the Group's retirement plan that are
attributable to contributions made by the Group. The Group does
not set aside any assets to fund any remaining obligations.

1 4 8 Luxey International (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2022

26. EERAEE

Provision for PRC employee
long service severance
payments compensation Total
(note a) (note b)
RERBE TEEE
i R E #st
(Hizta) (Hrztb)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT
475 2,046 2,521
- 11 11
- (463) (463)
- 188 188
475 1,882 2,357
- 791 791
- (34) (34)
475 2,639 3,114
Mt

() RHEARREZEMAE

RBEEBEEEY 2EBARETERT
EAEERBRLAFZET ERERRE
MESXHBERE - BUYRBICRINMEEZ
RE—BHEERBER LRERERE
B2 RRSHBIR St 2 R BIAERERZ
MR - AEBUTEBFEAEEUZNE
I i BR AR 75



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —FE - —F XA =+1HIFFE

26. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

PRC employee severance compensation

Pursuant to the PRC Labour Law which became effective on
1 January 2008, the Group is required to pay the severance
compensation to its employees if the employment contract expires
and is not renewed unless the Group has offered the employment
contract on the same terms and conditions but the offer is rejected
by the employee.

Under the Labour Contract Law, the severance compensation is
calculated based on one month’s salary for each year of employment
completed by the employee and is capped at 12 months’ salary or
12 times 300% of the average monthly salary of the previous year at
the place where the employer is located, whichever is lower. At the
end of each reporting period, the Group has made the provision for
severance compensation for the existing employees in the PRC.

27. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised: EE

26. EERAEFE @

Wiz - ()

(b)

PEES R E

REEB_ZENF-—B—HEERZTEH
St HERSRERELRESE A
AEBRRAEEBERERME HERER
ERBRGRREHRERERESRMES
FLUERERAIBRI

REFHEEE EREEDREESST
R—EREBE—ERHZHE MLER
REAHENEEMEMEFER FHFHE
300% 21218 (UBIEEBZE) - REREH
Ko AEHERTRIREEEZBEBMEF
B

27. B&7

7,000,000,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.1 each

2,000,000,000 convertible non-voting
preference shares of HK$0.15 each

312,500,000 series B convertible non-
voting preference Shares of HK$0.16
each

7,000,000,0008% & i H &
A0 1Tz EERkR

2,000,000,0008 &R E B
B0, 1570 2 AT HA PG

mRRERELR

312,500,000 & A& EI 1B

H150.167cZBR 7 IR

B ERIBAR

EEER () BRAR

2022 2021
—E-C B
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
700,000 700,000
300,000 300,000
50,000 50,000
1,050,000 1,050,000
—s==zes 149



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4R S MR R M

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

27. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Issued and fully paid:

792,745,615 (2021: 789,745,615)
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each

1,083,333,333 (2021: 1,083,333,333)
convertible non-voting preference

shares of HK$0.15 each

182,092,500 (2021: 187,348,125) series
B convertible non-voting preference

shares of HK$0.16 each

27. &7 (@)

BEITRERE :

792,745,6158% (& _—4 :
789,745,6155%) &G EE
BN T2 B

1,083,333,3338% (Z&E_—
1,083,333,33308) SR EE
FBHE0.1570 2 AJ A g

BIKERELR

182,092,500/ (Z&E ——4 :
187,348,1258%) SRR EE
FBHE0.167T ZB&R Y Al ARG

BmREREAR

1 5 O Luxey International (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2022

2022 2021
—E-C —ET—
HK$°000 HK$°000
BT BEFT
79,275 78,974
162,500 162,500
29,135 29,976
270,910 271,450




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR 5 R 75 R M 5E

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —F = — £ NF =+ HIFFE

27. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 27. BR7Z (&)
A summary of the movements in the authorised and issued KRABBE_E_FRIEBZ—FR
share capital of the Company during the years ended 30 June B=+tHIFEREIEREETREZ
2022 and 2021 is as follow: BEHEUWT
Number of
Number of series B
convertible convertible
Number of non-voting non-voting
ordinary preference preference
shares shares shares Amount
BRI
HRERE BRER
LERYA RELREE Brk#A &%
Notes 000 000 000 HK$ 000
i3 & & & BEFT
Authorised: EE
Asat 1uly 2020, as at 30 June 2021, RZZZZEEA-B
asat 1July 2021 and as at RZBZ—F-A=TH"
30 June 2022 RIZE--FtB—-HkK
BT "ERAZTH 7,000,000 2,000,000 312,500 1,050,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRER:
Asat 1 July 2020 RIZ-ZFEtHE—H 6,908,772 1,083,333 189,100 261,844
Share consolidation RiAGH (@ (6,217,895) = = =
Issuie of new shares upon rights issue REREFE TR ) 97,868 - - 9,786
Conversion of series B convertible EBRTITHRE
non-voting preference shares BRERELR (© 1,000 - (1,752) (180)
Asat30June 2021 andasat 1July 2021 RZZ-—EXB=+HK
RZB_—&tA—H 789,745 1,083,333 187,348 271,450
Conversion of series B convertible EIBRT TR
non-voting preference shares BRERELR (@ 3,000 - (5,255) (540)
As at 30 June 2022 RZEZZEXA=+H 792,745 1,083,333 182,093 270,910

EZER (2% SMAR —2-—s5% | D1



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R MBIwRMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

27. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

The

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by shareholders at
the special general meeting held on 5 August 2020, the share
consolidation of every ten issued and unissued shares of HK$0.01
each into one consolidated share of HK$0.10 each became effective
on 7 August 2020.

On 10 September 2020, the Company completed to allot and issue
97,868,384 new ordinary shares at a subscription price of HK$0.10
per rights share by way of rights issue to the qualifying shareholders
of the Company on the basis of one right share for every two
consolidated share held on the record date. The net proceeds
from the rights issue of approximately HK$9,153,000 will be used
to finance the Group’s e-commerce and online shopping services
business and money lending business.

On 20 November 2020, a total of 1,000,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.1 each were issued as a result of the conversion of 1,751,875

series B convertible non-voting preference shares of HK$0.16 each.

On 26 May 2022, a total of 3,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1
each were issued as a result of the conversion of 5,255,625 series B

convertible non-voting preference shares of HK$0.16 each.

Group's objectives when managing capital are to

safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in

order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other

stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to

reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group

may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,

return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to

reduce debt.
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27. IR7s (&)

Mt

@@ MWERER-_ZZFEN\BREBERTZR
RERARE LBB BBRER ROGH
RE+REREEEKITZBEITRE
BITROHEHA—REREEEK10TZ
BHBROHER S ZENBEBEK

b) MIZZZEFAR+H > ARFUHEEAR
ZER B ESRERIRDBIE0.107T M A A
NEE BRI K& 51797,868,384 %3
TER BEARCRONSHEMREH

IR 5 HE 85 — R AR AR 17 o AR FTIS TR IB F 48
#)78%69,153,000 AR ARERETH

B FBYREERUREEEHET

© WRIZIE2EZZEFE+—HBZ+H>  AEiA
1,751,875/ S IR B 140167 ZBR T AT iR
BmIERRESRMEITS1,000,0008F
REEBIE0 1T EmAg o

d RZZEZZEFTAZ+AH >  BER
5,255,6258% & IR EE & 10.167THIBR I A]
MR EEERE KM E{T S 33,000,000
REREERE0ITHEER-

FEBEEEAZENARELAEERR
BICEZE U RRIEHERRBHE
thIFMPER N > WERREERRE
LURRE A Bl 2 o

PHERFHABERRNE AEE B BH
RENTFTRRZKREER REEFTR
R BITHRMONHEEELUR AR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —FE - —F XA =+1HIFFE

27. IR7s (&)

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors

capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated

as net debt divided by total equity. Net debts is calculated as

total liabilities (including current and non-current liabilities as

shown in the consolidated statement of financial position) less

bank balances and cash. Total equity represents the equity as

shown in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The gearing ratios as at 30 June 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

Total debts
Less: bank balances and cash

Net debts

Total equity

Gearing ratio

(EEEEEEE
W IRTEERRE

(EEEER L]

The only external imposed capital requirement is that for the

Group to maintain its listing on GEM of the Stock Exchange

has to have a public float of at least 25% of the shares.

The Group received a report from the share registrars on

substantial share interests showing the non-public float and

it demonstrated continuing compliance with the 25% limit

throughout the year.

BEENHMRAT - AEEZREEGR
EERERE A I LE R DUEH 3 BAFR L E
mABEEFT B - RPN ERRE (B
mEMBRRRMARZ A RIERETE
B) MiRTHEEFERREE - HmiBEEE
AR E MBI R R 2 i o

ACBCER-B-—FXA=+A

ZEEBSBLEELNT

2022 2021

—EZHF BT —4F

HK$000 HK$'000

BIEFT B F T

32,307 32,325
(6,842) (18,206)

25,465 14,119

33,040 48,409

77% 29%

REBEFERBRRAGEMZ Ll
2N RFIBEAEER ERMNZA
BREREEVER2% AEEBBRNMHE
CEREE—MEBRTEAREREZAR
FTERMDER RS HERREERE
BEEAN—EET25%RE

w=Em (zR) Aman —s-—ssw |53



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R MBIwRMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE 28. ZxAB ZBAIE K R R R (& &S

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

Chan Hiu Kwan

Lau Chun Fat, George

FREETS 23
Executive Director Executive Director
HITEEH HITEEH
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(a) Statement of financial position of the Company (@) AR ZMBRAR
2022 2021
—E-HF BT —fF
HK$000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Non-current asset ERHEE
Investments in subsidiaries RBATZERE 10 10
Current assets MENEE
Prepayment, deposits and AR RER
other receivables Hh AR 281 275
Amounts due from subsidiaries eI VNG BN E] 19,914 20,174
Bank balances and cash R1TEEFERIREE 1,795 6,374
Total current assets MBI B ELLEE 21,990 26,823
Current liabilities RENAE
Accruals and other payables FEST & F A H A FE T BRFR 892 1,286
Amounts due to subsidiaries NI EVNGI B E] 3,542 3,195
Total current liabilities mENB AR 4,434 4,481
Net current assets MENEERE 17,556 22,342
NET ASSETS BEFE 17,566 22,352
Capital and reserves BE A e ek 1
Share capital %N 270,910 271,450
Reserves A (253,344) (249,098)
TOTAL EQUITY MR 17,566 22,352
Signed on its behalf by: BATIIEEAREE !



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —FE - —F XA =+1HIFFE

28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

28. AT ZHBRRRRFERES (@)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company

(b) TABZHEES

Capital
Share  redemption Accumulated Total
premium reserve losses equity
RNEE BXBEHE REtBE R
HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
BT BT FETT BT
Asat 1 July 2020 RZZE_ZFtE—H 705,642 150 (948,799) (243,007)
Loss and total comprehensive FREENREAFELE
loss for the year - - (5,638) (5,638)
Share issuing expenses Rein 21T Y (633) = = (633)
Conversion of series B convertible BB 5 A %
non-voting preference shares BREEEER 180 - - 180
As at 30 June 2021 and RZE-—F A=1+HKk
as at 1 July 2021 A ZE"—Ft+tH—H 705,189 150 (954,437) (249,098)
Loss and total comprehensive FRBERZABEEE
loss for the year - - (4,786) (4,786)
Conversion of series B convertible ~ EEHABZ 5 A #%
non-voting preference shares BEERELR 540 - - 540
As at 30 June 2022 RZZ__F/RA=+H 705,729 150 (959,223) (253,344)

EEER (R ARAR —F-_FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R MBIwRMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

29. RESERVES

0]

(ii)

(iii)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
funds in the share premium account of the Company
are distributable to the shareholders of the Company
provided that immediately following the date on which
the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company
will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in
the ordinary course of business.

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt
with the accounting polices set out in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Capital redemption reserve
Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value

of the shares repurchased which was paid out of the
distributable reserves of the Company.
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29. f#fE

(i)

(if)

(iii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —F = — £ NF =+ HIFFE

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Equity-settled share option scheme

On 28 November 2017, the Company terminated the share
option scheme adopted by the Company on 18 March 2008
and the rules of the new share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
be approved as the new share option scheme.

The Company operates the Scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants include the full-time and part-time employees,
executives, officers, directors, business consultants, suppliers,
customers, legal and financial advisers of the Company and
the Company’s subsidiaries. The Scheme became effective
on 28 November 2017 and, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. The maximum number of shares
issuable under share options to each eligible participant in
the Scheme within any 12-month period, is limited to 1% of
the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further
grant of shares options in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholder’s approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive officer
or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by
the independent non-executive directors. In addition, any
share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on
the price of the Company’s shares at the date of the grant)
in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are
subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general
meeting.

30. LARRIR B EREZ IR

UtEmEE 2 EIRET 8

ZN/NSST) N S R S AN= TS
ERZEBNF=F+/\BHEANER
8 MRS 8 (&5 EL) 2R
I ER TR ESTE -

TRBDEBZ B UBRT RERR/ESE

EEEZMNFREMZ G ER 2 EE-
BERSHEHEQRARTRETRAEMNE
AAZEBKREREE THRAS TE
AE-EE - EXFEE -HE® TR &
BRUMBER - Zt 8RN -t F+—
A+ NBEXM BRIESTTLUEHTE
5 BRI BE+FERAER

RiFZTE REFEERTZRITEER
BZRZHEABEER —KT6E AR F
AT R B R B S 1TRR1D 2 10% © B ME[
+ZEA BB RIEERET T2
NEBLEERSHEBET 2R RME
EE@F$@T#EH%@E%%%W
Z1%  E—FTERFTEMEBILRE R
k%éﬁﬂkﬁﬁk%kAtﬁﬁo

RFARBZEE - THAZHEERR
FWEZRABHEAT B BFEL
ESEIIERITEEHIE LI F AT
FEERREFRBUFATESHAHEZ
EABEATZEREREAN+Z@A
HBEAZ  BRARB PN ERREEET
BN Z01%T4EE URFERBEATR
MERAEE) BEB1E5,000,0005T 5
BERABIRERKREAE Lo

w=ER (2@ AMAE —w-—sew 1D/



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R MBIwRMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

31.

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
28 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and
ends on a date which is not later than five years from the
date of the offer of the share options or the expiry date of the
Scheme, if earlier.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of
the offer of the share options; (i) the average Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of the offer; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s shares on the date of the
offer.

Share options do not confer rights on the holder to dividends
or to vote at shareholders” meetings.

No share options were granted, forfeited, exercised or expired
under the Scheme during the year (2021: Nil).

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows
as cash flows from financing activities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR 5 R 75 R M 5E

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —F = — £ NF =+ HIFFE

31. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 31. MEEHFREEABEZHIR @
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (Continued)

Interest Loan from a Lease
payables Otherloan  shareholder liabilities Total
RE—LRE
FEfTH1 S HtE® V=6 HEaR st

HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
EBETT BRI EETT EETT EETT

As at 1 July 2020 R_E_EE
tB—H 87 1,500 58,000 10,970 70,557
Financing cash flows MERERE (1,196) (1,500) (58,000) (2,537) (63,233)
Non-cash changes: FREEE !
New leases entered I URE - - - 884 884
Early termination of lease 12K EFHE - - = (1,231) (1,231)
Covid-19-related rent - NERFER
concession RERHEER - = = (1,004) (1,004)
Finance costs recognised B HERREI A
(note 10) (Mrzz10) 1,109 - - 1,132 2,241
Exchange realignment (R AR - - - 215 215

Asat30June 2021 andasat B —%F

1 July 2021 ~A=+AE
S
tB—H = = - 8,429 8,429
Financing cash flows MERERE - - - (3,407) (3,407)
Non-cash changes: FREE
Finance costs recognised Eﬁﬁwﬂﬁﬂkﬁi$
(note 10) (Hrzz10) - - - 844 844
Exchange realignment QAR - - = (8) (8)
As at 30 June 2022 R-ZEB__F
~NB=1H = = - 5,858 5,858

#=ER (2B AMAE —e-—sx8 1 D9



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R MBIwRMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

32. PENDING LITIGATION

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the

following pending litigation:

(a)

(b)

On 19 January 2004, a winding up petition was filed
against the Company by certain ex-senior employees
of the Group claiming for payment in the sum of
approximately HK$594,000 from the Company in respect
of an award/order dated 20 October 2003 granted by
the Labour Tribunal in respect of the severance and
bonus dispute between the Company and the ex-senior
employees. The unsettled amounts of approximately
HK$594,000 were fully accrued in trade and other
payables during the year ended 30 June 2005 and remain
outstanding as at 30 June 2021 and 2022 even though
the case had ceased to be active since the year ended 30
June 2005.

On 24 July 2018, Ratio, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, received a claim from a former director
of Ratio for a total sum of approximately HK$813,000
in respect of the salary and severance dispute between
Ratio and the former director. The Company considered
that she was not entitled to the said sum for the major
reasons that her employment was terminated because
of her misconducts and the termination payment made
by Ratio to her was more than sufficient. The Company
also commenced the action in the High Court against her
for, inter alia, breach of fiduciary duties and contractual
duties owed by her to Ratio. The Group seeks an order for
damages and/or account of profit against her, which are
subject to assessment.
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32. FkRRiFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR S MR R M EE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #ZE —F = — £ NF =+ HIFFE

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

In addition to those related party transactions and
balances disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions
with its related parties during the year:

X F—BRRZ
FER a2

Interest expense paid to
a shareholder (notes)

Notes:

1) A major shareholder, Mr. Lau Chi Yuen, Joseph, hold certain
percentage of the Company issued share capital.

2)  This related party transaction constituted as a continuing
connected transaction under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules but are fully exempt from shareholders’ approval, annual
review and all disclosure requirements.

Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including the executive directors was as follows:

s /iR AL
EIBTEAL
RIREF] 5B AR

Salaries and allowances

Discretionary bonuses

Retirement benefit schemes
contributions

The remuneration of the directors and key management
personnel is determined by the remuneration committee
having regard to the performance of individuals and
market trends.

EEER () BRAR

33. FEALRS
(a) ?ﬁéﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%zMﬁﬁ
BALTR G RiEeFIN REBRER

EH%EAiZ ZHWMT

2022 2021
—E-C —E—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
HBEFT BEEF T
- 1,060

st
1) ERFLRELERAETESL

EABBEITIRA o

2) ﬁt%ﬁtAii%ﬁﬁiGEMiFﬁ%ﬁEﬂ%
Q08B N2 HFERER G 2 EE
RRBETREME EFEBRKRAE
WEIRTE o

AEETEZEEAS (BERITES)
BIFREMIN T -

2022 2021

—ET-= B4
HK$°000 HK$000

BT BT T

1,188 1,020

206 190

18 18

1,412 1,228
EEARTEEEAEZMETIAE

MEEgKEREARERTSISB
ABET -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R MBIwRMEE

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #tFE —FE = —F N =+ HIFFE

34. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a)

(b)

162

Shareholder’s loan

The Group has entered into a loan agreement with the
shareholder on 14 September 2022 to provide a loan of
HK$5,000,000 to the Group.

Lending to independent third parties

Luxey International Group Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, has entered in a loan
agreement with Harbour Media Co. Limited and
Winspeed Champion Investment Co. Limited on 15
September 2022 for a loan of HK$5,000,000. The loan
is secured by property located in Hong Kong, interest
bearing at 6% per annum and repayable within 1 year
from the drawdown date.

Luxey International (Holdings) Limited Annual Report 2022

34, JREHAEFIE

(a)

(b)

ARERE ™R

AEBR _E-_"_FHB+HNHHA
REFT I B UM A5 B Ht
BFUEKL5,000,0007T ©

BMBEIE=HEE
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The following is a summary of the published results and of the
assets and liabilities of the Group prepared on the basis set out in

the note below:

RESULT

Revenue

Loss before tax
Income tax credit

Loss for the year

Attributable to:

Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

FRiRAIER
Fishits

FEBR

THALRER

TABERA
FFERED

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
HAFEMBHE

BTYNERSZBEEMRRAERCS T
FEURBERGBZHEZMT

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
B _EC-F CEBECEFE "EB-hFE E-)\&E
HKS$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
BEFT BT BT BEFT BT T
57,805 71,207 77,809 131,778 156,572
(15,596) (5,987) (34,070) (10,210) (165,572)

= = 122 782 5,954

(15,596) (5,987) (33,948) (9,428) (159,618)
(15,256) (5,170) (25,673) (3,898) (138,268)
(340) (817) (8,275) (5,530) (21,350)
(15,596) (5,987) (33,948) (9,428) (159,618)

w=Em (zw) aman —s-—=ew 163



FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AFEMBHE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
it b “F-F  IFIEFE IEAE IEN\E
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS 000 HKS$'000 HKS$ 000
BRFT | EEFr  EETm  BEFn EETxm

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERARE

Non-current assets ERBEE 3,469 4,932 7,490 7,522 17,020
Current assets REEE 61,878 75,802 140,513 102,946 117,765
Non-current liabilities FrRBasd (3.221) (5,879) (8,051) (122) (1,594)
Current liabilities ViEI)=EE (29,086) (26,446) (94,368) (23,775) (50,275)
Net assets BEZE 33,040 48,409 45,584 86,571 82,916

Equity attributable to owners of ~ NABBEA AEILER

the Company 52,754 67,783 64,141 92,744 99,176
Non-controlling interests R (19,714) (19,374) (18,557) (6,173) (16,260)
Total equity R 33,040 48,409 45,584 86,571 82,916
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